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PART

Item BUSINESS

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

From time to time we make written or oral frwardlooking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation

Refurm Act of 1995 including statements contained in our filings with the Securities and ommissiun or SI
including this Report on Form 10K our annual report to stockholders and in other communications These statements do not

convey historical information hut relate to predicted or potential future events such as statements of our plans strategies and

intentions or our future perfurmance or goals Our frwardlooking statements can oflen he identified by the use of forward

looking terminology such as believes expects intends may will should or anticipates or similar terminology and

include hut are not limited to statements made in this Report regarding

the sufficiency of cash balances lines of credit and net cash from
operations

the indicators of change in the industry cycles in the integrated circuit or and automatic test equipment or

ATE industries

developments and trends in the and AIE industries

the possibility of future acquisitions or dispositions

our costcontainment initiatives

the implementation of current and future flicility consolidations and restnlcturing initiatives

costs associated with compliance with the SarhanesOxley Act of 2002 and new SE regulations

the development of new products and technologies by us or our competitors

the availability of materials used to manufacture our products

the availability of qualified personnel

general economic conditions

net revenues generated by fureign subsidiaries

exchange rate fluctuations

variable product warranty costs

pressure on prices from OEM customer supply line managers

stock price fluctuations

the anticipated market for our products and

other projections of net revenues taxable earnings loss net earnings loss net earnings loss per share capital

expenditures and other financial items

Investors and prospective investors are cautioned that such fOrward-looking statements are only proiections based on current

estimations These statements involve risks and uncertainties and are based upon various assumptions We discuss many of these

risks and uncertainties under Item IA Risk Factors below and elsewhere in this Report Fhese risks and uncertainties among
others could cause our actual future results to difThr materially from those described in our finward-looking statements or from

our prior results We are not obligated to update these fOrwardlooking statements even though our situation may change in the

future

INTRODtJFION

We are an independent designer manufacturer and marketer of mechanical thermal and electrical products that are used by

semiconductor manufacturers in conjunction with automatic test equipment or A1E in the testing of integrated circuits or ls
Our high perfOrmance products are designed to enable semiconductor manuflicturers to improve the efficiency of their test

processes and consequently their profitability We supply our products worldwide to major semiconductor manuflicturers and

semiconductor test subcontractors directly and through leading ATE manufacturers Our largest customers include Analog

Devices Inc Cypress Semiconductor orporation Emerson Electric Freescale Semiconductor Inc. Ilakuto Co ltd. I.FX

redence orporation Northrop Grumman Corporation Teradyne Inc lexas Instruments Incorporated and WI. Gore

Associates Inc

-3-
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The consolidated entity is comprised of inlFST Corporation parent and our whollyowned subsidiaries inlESF Corporation

was incorporated in New Jersey in 1981 and reincorporated in Iclaware in April 1997 We manage our business as three product

segments as more fully discussed under Our Segments below which consist of our Mechanical Products Thermal Products and

Electrical Products segments

During 2008 we completed two acquisitions of complementary businesses as part of our continuing strategy to expand our

business through the acquisition of businesses or technologies and our strategy to diversify our revenue streams outside the AlE

market

In July 2008 we acquired the assets of Diamond Integration L.L.. liamond business that provides post-warranty service

for ATE equipment to semiconductor manufacturers The total cost to acquire these assets was $262000 The results of liamond

arc included in our Mechanical Products segment Please see Note of the fotnotes to our consolidated financial statements fr

details of the purchase price allocation

In October 2008 we acquired Sigma Systems orp Sigma manufacturer of thermal platfirms custom configured

environmental chambers and other environmental test solutions for variety of industries including automotive

medical/pharmaceutical electronic aerospace/defense and ATE Sigma is included in our lhermal Products segment and has

expanded our product ofTerings outside the ATE market We believe Sigmas products are highly complementary to our other

thermal products and will greatly facilitate our further penetration into non-AIE markets The purchase price was approximately

$3.5 million and was paid with $1 .0 million in cash 55000 shares of our common stock and the issuance of nonnegotiable

promissory
notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to $1.5 million In addition during the closing of the transaction we

repaid $30300 of debt on the books of Sigma and incurred transaction costs of $226000 Please see Note of the footnotes to

our consolidated financial statements fbr detail of the purchase price allocation

Business Environment

Changes in global economic conditions aflect the demand for products which contain semiconductors which in turn has

significant impact on the demand for ATE The global economy and financial markets experienced extreme disniption in fate

2008 and most of 2009 and remain at levels well below historical levels his caused significant weakening in both consumer

and business demand for products which contain semiconductors which in turn caused the AIE utilization rates at our customers

to decline materially from normal levels As result we experienced significant declines in the bookings and sales of our

products during the fourth quarter of 2008 and the first quarter
of 2009 This downward trend reversed in the second quarter of

2009 when we experienced sequential growth in both the bookings and sales of our products which continued throughout the

balance of 2009 We currently expect demand to continue to he strong throughout 2010 although our visibility remains limited

As result of the deterioration in our business in late 2008 and early 2009 we took number of steps to reduce our fixed

operating costs and preserve cash These actions included workfbrce reductions salary and benefit reductions for remaining stafi

facility closures and consolidations and other operating expense
reductions Our goal was to reduce our fixed cost structure to

level better aligned with the reduced level of demand we were experiencing so that when business conditions improved we would

return to profitability on lower level of revenues These actions and trends are more fully discussed in Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations below

INDUSTRY

Overview

Historically the semiconductor market has been characterized by rapid technological change wide fluctuations in demand and

shortening product life cycles Designers and manufacturers of variety of electronic and industrial products such as cell phones

telecom and datacom systems Internet access devices computers transportation and consumer electronics require increasingly

complex lCs to provide improved end-product performance demanded by their customers Semiconductor manufacturers

generally compete based on product performance and price We believe that testing costs represent significant portion of the

total cost of manufacturing ICs Semiconductor manufacturers remain under pressure to maximize production yields and reduce

testing costs At the same time the growing complexity of ls has increased the difliculty of maximizing test yields In order to

address these market trends semiconductor manufacturers strive for more efkctive utilization of ATE smaller test areas and

increased wafer level testing

-4-
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Item BUSI ESS OntiliLled

lemand fir new ATE and related equipment depends upon several factors including the demand fr products that incorporate

ICs the increasing complexity of ls and the emergence of new design production and packaging technologies Some of the

evolutionary changes in technologies include the shill to 300 mm wafrs in production system-on-a-chip or SOC where

digital analog and memory functions are combined on single IC and chip scale packaging As result of these and other

advances semiconductor manufacturers may require additional ATE not only to handle increases in production hut also to handle

the more sophisticated testing requirements of Is

IC 7si IFSS

Semiconductor manufacturers typically produce ls in multiples ofseveral hundred on silicon wafr which is later separated or

diced into individual Is lxtended leads are then attached to the individual ls fr later connection to other electrical

components In most cases the ls are then encapsulated in plastic ceramic or other protective housing These process steps are

called packaging

Wafers are tested hefare being diced and packaged to ensure that only properly functioning ls are packaged Ihis testing step

has several names including frontend test wafer test wakr probe or wafr sort In frontend test an electronic handling

device known as wafer prober automatically positions the wafir under probe card which is electronically connected to test

head which connects electrically to test system During front-end testing there is growing trend of thermally conditioning the

wakr during test especially in the memory and automotive markets Once the good ls have been identified they are packaged

The packaged ls also require testing called hackend test or final test to determine if they meet design and perfarmance

specifications Packaged Is are tested after loading into another type of electronic handling device called package handler or

handler which then transfrs the packaged Is into test socket which is attached to the test head These handlers may he

temperature controlled far testing Wakr probers and handlers are sometimes refirred to in this Report collectively as

electronic device handlers

Testers range in price from approximately $100000 to over $3 million each depending primarily on the complexity otthe to

he tested and the number of test heads typically one or two with which each tester is configured Probers and handlers range in

price from approximately $50.00 to $500000 typical test floor of large semiconductor manufacturer may have 100 test

heads and 100 probers or 250 handlers supplied by various vendors far use at any one time

lest head manipulators also rekrred to as positioners facilitate the movement of the test head to the electronic device handler

Iocking hardware mechanically connects the test head to the wafr prober or handler Tester interface products provide the

electrical connection between the test head and the wafr or packaged iraditionally temperature management products are

used in hack-end test to allow manufacturer to test packaged Is under the extreme temperature conditions in which the may
he required to operate However we believe that temperature-controlled testing will be an increasingly important part of tront-end

wakr testing as more parameters traditionally tested far in hack endtest are moved to front-end test

ircd in 7ks1ip.e

AiE is used to identify unacceptable packaged Is and bad die on wafirs ATE assists manufacturers in controlling test costs

by performing testing in an efticient and costeffctive manner In order to provide testing equipment that can help

manufacturers meet these goals we believe the ATE industry must address the fallowing issues

hange in 7ke/moIogv End-user applications are demanding Is with increasingly higher performance greater speeds and

smaller sites Is that meet these higher standards are more complex and dense SO designs are likely to he more in demand in

the future lhese technology trends have significant implications for the testing process including

the need far test heads of higher complexity

higher signal densities

increasing test speeds and

new generation of testers far SOC and other technologies
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Need Jbr Plug ornpatibilitv and Integration Semiconductor manufacturers need test methodologies that will perforni

increasingly complex tests while lowering the overall cost of testing
This can require combining All manufactured by various

companies into optimally performing systems Semiconductor nianufacturers have to work closely with various test hardware

software interface and component vendors to resolve design and compatibility issues in order to make these vendors products

plug-compatible with test equipment manufi.ictured by other vendors

Testing Under Evirene onditions ls will have to perform across wider spectrum of temperature and environmental

conditions than ever befOre because of the growing complexity of products in which they are deployed Temperature testing will

likely find an increasing role in frontend wafer level testing reating unifOrm thermal profile over imich larger wafr areas

represents significant engineering and design challenge fOr ArE manufacturers

Demand/sr Higher Ltvels at 7echnical Support As testing becomes more complex semiconductor manufacturers demand

higher levels of technical support on routine basis ATE manufacturers must commit appropriate resources to technical support

in order to develop close working relationships with their customers This level of support also requires
close proximity of service

and support personnel to customers facilities

Cost Reduction Through Increased Ironibid 7.sting As the cost of testing Is increases semiconductor manuflicturers will

continue to look fOr ways to streamline the testing process to make it more cost-effective such as the recent trend to use massive

parallel test in which semiconductor manufacturers test multiple Is on the wafir simultaneously We believe that this factor will

lead to more front-end wafer-level testing

OUR SOLUTIONS

Historically we have fOcused our development efforts on designing and producing high quality products that provide superior

performance and costefThctiveness We have sought to address each manufacturers individual needs through innovative and

customized designs use of the best materials available quality manufacturing practices and personalized service We have

designed solutions to overcome the evolving challenges facing the ATE industry which we believe provide the fOllowing

advantages

Scalable Universal high Perfininance Inter/ace Technology Our universal test head manipulators provide high degree of

positioning flexibility with minimum amount of efThrt As result our products can he used in virtually any test setting Our

manipulator products are designed to accommodate the increased size of test heads Our docking hardware offrs precise control

over the connection to test sockets probing assemblies and interface hoards reducing downtime and minimizing costly damage to

fragile components Our tester interface products optimize the integrity of the signals transmitted between the test head and the

device under test by being virtually transparent to the test signals This results in increased accuracy of the test data and may thus

enable improved test yields We believe that these characteristics will gain even more significance as testing becomes even more

demanding

Compatibility and Integration hallmark of our products has been and continues to he compatibility with wide variety of

ATE Our mechanical products are all designed to he used with otherwise incompatible ATI We believe this integrated approach

to ATE facilitates smooth changeover from one tester to another longer lives fOr interface components better test results

increased ATE utilization and lower overall test costs

Temperature-ontrolled Testing Our Thermostream products are used by manufacturers in number of industries to stress

test variety of semiconductor and electronic components hoards and sub-assemblies Our ihermochuck products are

used by semiconductor manufacturers fOr front-end temperature stress screening at the wafr level Factors motivating

manufacturers to use temperature testing include design characterization failure analysis and quality control as well as

determining performance under extreme operating temperatures all of which contribute to manufacturing cost savings Our

acquisition of Sigma has significantly increased our product ofirings in the area of temperature-controlled testing Sigmas

thermal platforms and temperature and humidity chambers can accommodate large thermal masses and are fOund in both

laboratory and production environments

Worldwide ustomer .Servce and Support We have long recognized the need to maintain physical presence near our customers

facilities As of December 31 2009 we had domestic manufacturing facilities in New Jersey Massachusetts and alifOrnia and

provided service to our customers from sales and service offices in the U.S. Europe and Asia As part of our 2009 restructuring

-6-
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actions we suspended manufucturing operations at our Singapore operation and closed our sales office in Japan both of which
were part of our Mechanical Products segment In addition in our Thermal Products segment we consolidated the operations of

Sigma from its El ajon fucility into our emptronic orporation fucility in Sharon MA These items are more fully

discussed in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial ondition and Results of Operations below lcspite
these actions our engineers remain easily accessible to and can work directly with most of our customers from the time we
begin developing our initial proposal through the delivery installation and use of the product by our customer In this way we
are able to develop and maintain close relationships with our customers

OUR STRAFE ES

In the last several quarters we have had to balance our actions to achieve
appropriate adjustments to our operating stnicture and

yet meet the needs of our customers in the changing business environment In addition we remain committed to our goals of

being recognized in our markets as the designer and manufucturer of the highest quality and most cost eflctive products and

becoming the key supplier ofalI of our customers ATE needs other than probers handlers and testers Our strategies to achieve

these goals include the fullowing

7kchno/ogieu//v .h/tanced .SoIuions We are committed to designing and producing only the highest quality products
which incorporate innovative designs to achieve optimal costeffectiveness and functionality lor each customers particular

situation Our engineering and design stall is continually engaged in developing new and improved products and manufucturing

processes

/.eieraiIzi Our .Stoni ustonwi Re/a/urns/ups Our technical personnel work closely with ATE manufucturers to design tester

interface and docking hardware that are compatible with their AIE As result we are often privy to proprietary technical data

and infonnation about these manutlicturers products We believe that because we do not compete with ATE manuflicturers in the

prober handler and tester markets we have been able to establish
strong collaborative relationships with these manuflicturers that

enable us to develop ancillary ATE products on an accelerated basis

Main/awing Ow International Iesenet Our existing and potential customers are concentrated in certain regions throughout the

world We believe that we must maintain presence in the markets in which our customers operate We currently have oftices in

the U.S Europe and Asia As part ofour 2009 restructuring actions we suspended manuflicturing operations in our Singapore

operation and closed our Japanese sales oflice and we significantly reduced stall in certain offices lespite these actions we
continue to maintain appropriate personnel with relatively easy access fir our customers Fhese items are more fully discussed in

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial ondition and Results of perations below

Purvuizg Synergistic Acquisitions key element of our growth strategy has been to acquire businesses technologies or products
that are complementary to our current product oflerings Since our initial public offering in 1997 we have acquired several

businesses which have enabled to expand our line otproduct offerings and have given us the opportunity to market broader

range of products to our customer base and in the case of both the iemptronic acquisition in 2000 and the Sigma acquisition in

2008 provided access to markets that are less sensitive to cyclicality than the A1E market At the current time acquisition targets

are generally sutThring from similar
recessionary efiects as we are experiencing onsequently the

prospects of finding an

appropriate candidate and financing tor same is severely limited However when business conditions improve if we have

financial resources to do so we would seek to renew our strategy to make acquisitions that will further expand our product lines

enabling us to become key supplier to the test floor for complete selection of equipment compatible with testers probers and

handlers of all manutlicturers

Pursuing Rtttue hmtth Opportunities Outsidt the .Senwonduto 7k Mwket Another element of our growth strategy is to

pursue revenue growth opportunities in markets we have not traditionally served such as the automotive medical/pharmaceutical

electronic aerospace/defnse communications and consumer electronics We believe that we may he able to reduce some of the

cyclicality that we have historically experienced by further diversifying our revenue streams outside the semiconductor AE
market We see the most potential for this within our Thermal Products segment For the

years ended Iecemher 2009 and
2008 approximately $2.5 million or 11% and $5.9 million or 15% respectively of our consolidated net revenues were derived

from markets outside semiconductor test Ihese revenues were all generated by our hermal Products segment We cannot

determine at this time whether we will continue to he succcssfuI in building our sales in these nontraditional markets or what the

growth rate of our sales in these markets will he in future periods
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ontrolling costs At the same time as we are pursuing growth opportunities we will seek ways to more aggressively streamline

our cost structure so that we are positioned to ofkr products at prices that provide the margin tr reasonable profit as well as

the resources for continual product development

OUR SE1MENTS

Our business is managed as three segments which are also our reporting units Mechanical lroducts Thermal Products and

Electrical Products

During 2009 our Mechanical Products segment consisted of our manufacturing operation in herry lill New Jersey as well as

our subsidiaries in Singapore inTEST Pte and Japan inTEST KK luring the fourth quarter of 2009 we completed the closure

of inTEST KK in Japan During 2008 we centralized all manufacturing of mechanical products in our herry lull New Jersey

facility we had previously manufactured these products in Singapore as well as in Germany The facility closure and

consolidation actions described above are in response to the afbrcmentioned significant reduction in demand we experienced in

late 2008 and early 2009 Efkctive January 2010 our Singapore operation inTEST lte which no longer manufactures

mechanical products became part of our Thermal Products segment which historically sold its thermal products through this

operation while it was also manufacturing operation far the Mechanical Products segment

Euring 2009 our Thermal Products segment consisted of our subsidiaries in Sharon Massachusetts Temptronic orporation and

Sigma Systems orp and Germany Temptronic imbi We consolidated the operations of Sigma from its El ajon facility

into lemptronics Sharon MA facility in December 2009 As noted in the prior paragraph efkctive January 2010 our

Singapore operation inTEST Ite became part of the Thermal Products segment

Our Electrical Product segment consists of our subsidiary in San Jose alifarnia inTEST Silicon Valley orporation

Semiconductor manufacturers use our mechanical products during testing of wafirs and specialized packaged Is They use our

thermal and electrical products in both front-end and back-end testing of ls These Is include microprocessors digital signal

processing chips mixed signal devices MEMS Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems application specific Is and specialized

memory ls and are used primarily in the automotive aerospace computer consumer products and telecommunications

industries We custom design most of our products far each customers particular combination of ATE

Mechanical Jroducis

ManpulaIo Products We offer tour lines of manipulator products the in2 the Series the Aero Series and the ohal

Series These free-standing universal manipulators can hold variety of test heads and enable an operator to reposition test head

for alternate use with any one of several probers or handlers on test floor ertain members ofthe Aero family are also available

as lower-cost solution fbr dedicated prober-only or handler-only test cell applications

The in2R and ohal Series of manipulator products incorporate our balanced floating-head design This design permits test

head weighing up to 3000 pounds to he held in an efictively weightless state so it can be moved manually or with optional

powered assistance up or down right or left farward or backward and rotated around each axis known as six degrees of motion

freedom by an operator using modest amount of fhrce The same design katures enable the operator to dock the test head

without causing inadvertent damage to the fragile electrical contacts As result afler testing particular production lot of ls
the operator can quickly and easily disconnect test head that is held in an in2R manipulator and equipped with our docking

hardware and dock it to another electronic device handler far testing either subsequent lot of the same packaged ls or to test

dif1rent ts The in2R and obal Series manipulators range in price from approximately $12000 to $80000

The Series line of manipulator products consists of the M400 and M500 manipulators These compact universal manipulators

arc designed to handle test heads weighing less than 55 pounds The up and down movement is counter-balanced by an air-

pressure-based floating state technology The Series manipulators range in price from approximately 12000 to $30000

The Aero Series of manipulator products consists of the Aero 45011 and Aero SOP manipulators These manipulators are

designed to handle test heads weighing less than 500 pounds The up and down movement is supported by an air-pressure-based

floating state technology The Aero Series manipulators range
in price from $10000 to $30000
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Ann /IurIiiar Im/u is ur docking hard are products protect the Ic icate interhice contacts and ensure proper repeatable
and precise al ignnlent between the test heads in tertice hoard and the probers probing asseinh ly or the hand Icrs test socket as

hey are brought together or docked simple cam act ion docks and locks the test head to the prober or handler thus

eliminating notion ot the test head relative to the prober or handler Ihis ininirni/es deterioration ol the interlice boards test

sockets and probing assemblies which is caused by constant vibration during testing ur docking hardware products are used

pri maii ly with floatinghead tin versa manipulators when max mum mobility and interchangeability of handlers and probers

between test heads is requm red using our docking hardware products semiconductor manufacturers can achieve cost savings

through improved II Ut ili tation improved accuracy and integrity of test results and reduced repairs and replacements

expensive All interhice products

We bel ie our docking hardware products oiler our customers the ability to make arious competing brands ot test heads

compatible with various brands of probers and handlers by on lv changing interhice boards this is cal led plugcompatihility
P1 ugcompat ibi Ii tv enables increased flex ihi Ii ty and Lit u/at ion test heads probers and handlers purchased from various

manuficturers We believe that because we do not compete with AlE mantifmcturers in the sale of probers handlers or testers

ATE mantiticturers are willing to provide us with the information that is integral to the design of plugcompatible products ur

docking hardware products range in price from approximately $2000 to $25.00

i/lt17fll/ /rodn is

ur thermal products are sold into the environmental test market encompassing wide ariety of industries including aerospace
autoniot ive coinmun icat ions consumer electronics defense medical auid scm iconductor ndtistries ur thermal products enable

manufacturer to test semiconductor wafers and se lectronic components and assemblies mechanical assemblies and

electromechanical assemblies Ihese products provide the ability to characterie and stress test variety riia teria Is over extreiiie

and variable temperature conditions that can occur in actual use

ihtrnu /u ARi ThmIu is ur hermo huck prec ion vacuum lat form assenihl ies used pri man ly in lie seriiicoiiductor

industry quickly change and stahi lie he temnperat tire of semiconductor Wa frs accurately and un firm ly during testing without

remov rig
lie sa fer from its testing environment Such temperatures can range fioin as loss as .S degrees elsi 115 ti as ligl as

401 degrees elsius lhermohucks are incorporated into ssafer prober equipment fir laboratory analysis and for inline

product ion testing of semiconductor wafers lhermo huck products range in price from approximately Ito S90.00

IIienoSln/ /m/zu is ur hermoStreamn products are used in lie seiii conductor industry as standa lone temperat Lire

management tool or in variety of electronic test applications as of our ohi lelemp FM systems lhermoStream

products pros ide source of heated and cooled air which can be directed over lie component or device tinder test Ihese systems

are capable of controlling temperatures to within degree elsius over range of 9t degrees elsius to as high as 225

legrees elsius within .0 degree Celsius of accuracy As standalone tool IherinoStreams provide temperaturecontrolled

air stream to rapidly change and stahi li/c the temperature of packaged and other devices

ur Mobile einp Series combines our herinoSt ream products with our fmni ly of cxc his Ii ighspeed
hermo hamhers FM to offer thermal test systems with fist uni tuirin teinperat tire control in compact package enabling

temperature testing at the test location ohmic lemp Systems are designed specifically fir sina II hernial iiiass applications

beyond the scm iconductor market and have fiund application in the automotive electronic Ii her optic medical and oil fie 11

service industries testing such things as electronic subassemblies sensor assemblies and printed circuit boards

radi monal ly our customers used hermoStream products primarily in eugi neeri rig quality assurance and snia Ilrun

mnanu ficturing eiiv ironmnents lowever increasingly our customers use IhermoStreamn products in longerrun product ion

appl meat ions FhermoStream and Mobile emp FM products range in price fiom approximately S.00 to S50Ot It

ur
acqu ition of

ignia has significantly broadened our product Ii ne and pros ided access to ss ide array of market applications

Sigma products are used to test or condition Products in almost es cry market inc ud
mig food pharmaceutical medical electronic

test and mu iateri il test to name few

iiwrnui/ nod IIunuIui /um/trs ur chamber products are available in variety of si/es omn sinai benc htop tin its to chambers

with internal solumnes of twentysesen cubic feet and greater and with temperature ranges as wide as ofI degrees elsitis
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to 500 degrees elsius hambers can he designed to utilize liquid nitrogen or liquid carbon dioxide cooling or mechanical

refngeration and sometimes both These chambers can accommodate large thermal masses and are fnind in both laboratory and

production environments Chambers are priced from $10000 to $60000

Thermal Plat/nms Our platfrms are available in surface sizes ranging from 7.2 square inches to 3%
square

inches Ihey

provide flat thermally conductive precisely temperature
controllable surface that is ideal for conditioning and testing devices

with flat surface Platforms are available with temperature ranges as broad as 185 degrees elsius to 250 degrees elsius

Thermal platfarms can he designed to utilize either liquid nitrogen or liquid carbon dioxide cooling or mechanical refrigeration

Platforms offr virtually unimpeded access to the device under test and their easy access and compact sue makes them ideal far

convenient benchtop use Ilatfarms are priced from $6500 to $45000

Electrical Products

Our electrical products which include various types of tester interfaces provide the electrical connections between the tester and

the wafer prober or handler to carry the electrical signals between the tester and the probe card on the prober or the test socket

on the handler Our designs optimize the integrity of the transmitted signal which increases the accuracy of the test data

iherefare our tester interfaces can he used with high speed high frequency digital or mixed signal testers used in testing more

complex Ks I3ecause our tester interface products enable the tester to provide more reliable yield data our interfaces may also

reduce IC production costs We design standard and modular interface products to address most possible tester prober

combinations on the market today In addition we provide custom design service that will allow any of our customers to use

virtually any tester prober or handler combination with any type of device such as analog digital mixed signal and radio

frequency Ior example our entaurR modular interface is designed to provide flexibility and scalahility through the use of

replaceable signal modules which can he easily changed on the test floor as our customers testing requirements change In

addition to the entaur modular interface we also offer over 200 difierent types of tester interface models that we custom

designed far our customers specific applications hese products range in price from approxiniately 1.000 to 500.000

Iincmeial Inlormatum bout Iodut Se.cunts and .ieo.aphic Areas

Please see Note 18 of our consolidated tinancial statements included in Item of this Report on Form 10K far additional data

regarding net revenues profit or loss and total assets of each of our segments and revenues attributable to fareign countries

MARKETING SAI.ES ANt USIOMER SUPPORT

We market and sell our products primarily in markets where semiconductors are manufactured North American and European

semiconductor manufacturers have located most of their backend factories in Southeast Asia The frontend vafr lihrication

plants of U.S semiconductor manufacturers are primarily in the U.S I.ikewise European Iaiwanese South Korean and Japanese

semiconductor manufacturers generally have located their wakr fabrication plants in their respective countries

Mechanical and Eleeiieal Products In North America we sell to semiconductor manufacturers principally through the use of

independent commissioned sales representatives North American sales representatives also coordinate product installation and

support with our technical stafi and participate in trade shows

Our internal sales stafi handles sales to ATE manufacturers and is responsible far portfalio of customer accounts and far

managing certain independent sales representatives In addition our account managers are responsible far pricing quotations

proposals and transaction negotiations and they assist with applications engineering and custom product design lechnical

support is provided to North American customers and independent sales representatives by employees based in New Jersey

al farnia and texas

In Europe we sell to semiconductor and ATE manufacturers through our internal sales staff and through the use of independent

sales representatives In hina Japan Malaysia the Philippines Singapore South Korea laiwan and Ihailand we sell through

the use ol independent sales representatives who are supervised by our internal sales stall International sales representatives are

responsible for sales installation support and trade show participation in their geographic market areas lechnical support is

provided to Asian customers primarily by employees based in Malaysia the Philippines and laiwan

10
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i/zerna/ /ro/lIls Sales to ATl manufjcturers are handled directly by our own sales lrce Sales to semiconductor

manuttcturers and customers in other industries in the U.S are handled through independent sales representative organizations In

Singapore and Malaysia our sales and service are handled through our internal sales and service stall In the rest of Asia our
sales arc handled through distributors In Lurope sales managers at our ollice in ermany as well as regional distributors and

independent sales representatives sell to semiconductor nianuficturers and customers in other industries We visit our distributors

regularly and have trained them to sell and service all of our thermal products

JSTOMLRS

We market all of our products to end users which include semiconductor manuficturers and thirdparty foundries test and

assembly houses as well as original equipment manuflieturers DEMs which include AlE manuficturers and their thirdparty
outsource manulicturing partners In the case of thermal products we also market our products to independent testers of

semiconductors iiianuficturers of electronic automotive and aeronautical products and semiconductor research ficilities Our
customers use our products principally in production testing although our ThermoStreamR products traditionally have been
used largely in engineering development and quality assurance We believe that we sell to most of the major semiconductor
manulicturers in the world

lexas Instruments Incorporated accounted for 14% and 16% of our consolidated net revenues in 2009 and 200g respectively
While all three of our operating segments sold to this customer these revenues were primarily generated by our Mechanical
Products and ilectrical Products segments our ten largest customers accounted fbr approximately 42% and 47% ofour net

revenues in 2009 and 200g respectively The loss of any one or more of our largest customers or reduction in orders by major
customer could materially reduce our net revenues or otherwise materially afThct our business financial condition or results of

operations

ur largest customers include

Semiconduior Manu/aciurer TL Manufacturer.% Other

Analog Ievices Inc 1TXredence Corporation Emerson Electric Co
ypress Semiconductor Corporation Teradyne Inc lakuto Ltd

reescale Semiconductor Inc
Northrup irumman orporation

exas Instruments Incorporated WI. iore Associates Inc

MANLJFAFURIN ANI SUPPLY

As of December 31 2009 our principal manuthcturing operations consisted of assembly and testing at our ficilities in New
Jersey Massachusetts and alifornia We had manuflicturing operations in Singapore at our inFEST lte operation through the

end of the second quarter of 2009 In April 2009 we approved fhe suspension of tnanufacttiring operations at our Singapore
operation which had manufictured products fir our Mechanical Products segment All Mechanical Products segment
nianuftcturing is now centralized in our Cherry lill New Jersey facility In December 2009 we consolidated the operations of

Sigma from its ficiliy in II ajon to Temptronics ficility in Sharon MA The consolidation ofmanuficturing operations
was done to reduce our fixed operating costs in response to the significant reduction in demand we experienced in our business

during the later portion of 200 and early 2009 as more fully discussed in Item Managements liscussion and Analysis of
Financial ondition and Results of Operations below We do not believe the closure of Sigmas ajon operations or the

suspension of manuficturing operations in Singapore have or will adversely impact our ability to efkctively meet our customers
needs We expect to he able to continue to provide appropriate customer support from our other operations in the U.S. Europe
and Asia

We assemble most of our products from combination of standard components and custom parts that have been lihricated to our

specifications by either third-party manuflicturers or our own fabrication operation in New Jersey Our practice is to use the

highest quality raw materials and components in our products The primary raw materials used in fibricated parts are all widely
available We purchase substantially all of our components from multiple suppliers Although we purchase certain raw materials
and components froni single suppliers we believe that all materials and components are available in adequate amounts from other
sources

II
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We conduct inspections of incoming raw materials fthricated parts and components using sophisticated measurement equipment

this includes testing with coordinate measuring machines in all hut one of our manufacturing ftcilities to ensure that products

with critical dimensions meet our specifications We have designed our inspection standards to comply with applicable II

specifications and ANSI standards

In 2001 we obtained IS 90 1994 certification at our New Jersey liciLity uring 2003 we made the determination to upgrade

to ISo 90012000 at our New Jersey facility which was completed in 2007 In May 2003 our San Jose alifrnia ficility

obtained 2000 certification Neither of our New Jersey and San Jose ali fbrnia fic ilit es have completed their 2009

audits due to the loss of most of our internal auditors in our redut ions in frce ur Massachusetts flic il ty completed

90112000 certification in November 2004 and upgraded to IS 9001 2t0 in November 2009

ANI PROIIJT IEVIJ PMFNl

Our success depends on our ability to provide our customers with products and solutions that are well engineered and to design

those products and solutions befure or at least no later than our competitors As of Iecemher 2009 we employed total of

24 engineers who were engaged full time in engineering and product development In addition when the demands of engineering

and product development projects exceed the capacity or knowledge of our inhouse staf we retain temporary thirdparty

engineering and product development consultants to assist us Our practice in many cases is to assign engineers to work with

specific customers thereby enabling us to develop the relationships and exchange of infurmation that is most conducive to

successful product development and enhancement In addition some of our engineers are assigned to new product research and

development and have worked on such projects as the development of new types of universal manipulators the redesign and

development of new thermal products and the development of high perfurmance interfuces

Since most of our products are custoniiied we consider substantially all of our engineering activities to he engineering and

product development We spent approximately $2.4 mill ion in 2009 and $5 mill ion in 200 on engineering and product

de elopment respectively lhe significant reduction in engineering and product de elopment spending in 2009 compared to 20t

was due to the headcount reductions we undertook in response to the significant reduction in demand we experienced in our

business during the later portion of 200 and early 20t9

PAlINlS ANt oTt IlR IROIRII RI it ItS

ur policy is to protect our technology by filing patent applications fur the technologies that we consider important to our

business We also rely on trade secrets copyrights and unpatentahie knowhow to protect our proprietary rights It is our practice

to require that all of our employees and hi rdpaity product development consultants assign to us all rights to invent ions or other

discoveries relating to our business that were made while working for us In addition all employees and thirdparty product

development consultants agree not to disclose any private or confidential infurmation relating to our technology trade secrets or

intellectual property

As of Iecemher 2tt9 we held Sb active patents and had 19 pending iS patent applications covering various aspects of

our technology ur IS patents expire at various times beginning in 201 and extending through 2025 Iuring 2009 we had

five ti.S patents expire and five 1.1.5 patents were issued We also hold foreign patents and file foreign patent applications in

selected cases corresponding to our iS patents and patent applications to the extent management deems appropriate

While we believe that our patents and other proprietary rights are important to our business we also believe that due to the rapid

pace
of technological change in the semiconductor equipment industry the successful manufacture and sale of our products also

depends upon our engineering manu fact tiring marketing and sei icing skills In the absence of patent protect ion we would he

vulnerable to competitors who attempt to copy or imitate our products or processes We believe our intellectual property has

value and we have taken in the past and will take in the future actions we deem appropriate to protect such property from

niisappropriation Ihere can he no assurance however that such actions will provide meaningful protection from conipetition

lor additional information regarding risks related to our intellectual property see Risk Iactors
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We operate in an increasingly conipet itive environnient within each of our Product segments Some of our competitors have

greater financial resources and more extenske design and production capabilities than we do ertain markets in which we

operate have recently become more fragmented with smal icr companies entering the market Ihese new smaller entrants

typically have much lower levels of fixed operating overhead than we do which enables them to he profitable with lower priced

products In order to remain competitive with these and other companies we imist he able to continue to commit significant

portion of our personnel financial resources research and development and customer support to developing new products and

maintaining customer relationships worldwide

ur competitors include independent manufacturers All i1antiticturers and to lesser extent semiconductor manufacturers in

house All interface groups ompetitive factors in our market include price functionality timely product delivery customer

service applications support product pertrmaiice and reliability We believe that our longterm relationships with the industrys

leading semiconductor manufacturers and other customers and our commitment to and reputation for providing high quality

products are niportan elements in our ability to compete fict ye in all of our markets

ur principal competitors fbr manipulator products are I.smo ReidAshman Manufacturing and Advantest orporation ur

princi pal competitors fr docking hardware products inc tide smo Knight utoi1at ion and Re idA shman Manu fact tiring

We also compete with the II manu fact urer leradyne who is also our customer on the sale of docking hardware

ur principal competitors fr Ihermostreani products are Ihermonics and FlS Systems ur principal competitors fr
Thermochuck products include lRS llectroriik imbi Advances lemperature Systems imbi and Ispec orp ur principal

competitors 11r environmental chambers are Fhermotron Industries incinnati SubZero Products Inc and Fspec orp ur

principal competitor for thermal platfrnis is Fnvironmental Stress Systems Inc

ur principal competitors fbr tester nterfuice products are Xandex Inc. Reid shrnan anti facturi ug and Integrated

lest orpora ion

13AKIAi

At Iecemher 2009 our backlog of unfilled orders fr all products was approximately S4.ô million compared with

approximately $2.4 million at December 200g ur backlog includes customer orders which we have accepted substantially

all of which we expect to deliver in 2010 While hack log is calculated on the basis of firm purchase orders customer may cancel

an order or accelerate or postpone currently scheduled delivery dates ur backlog may he affcted by the tendency of customers

to rely on shorter lead times available from suppliers including us in periods of depressed demand In periods of increased

demand there is tendency towards longer lead times that has the efThct of increasing backlog As result of these fictors our

backlog at particular date is not necessarily indicative of sales fir any future period

FM P1

At 2009 we had 107 full time employees including 42 in manufacturing operations 43 in customer

support/operations and 22 in administration Substantially all of our key employees are highly skilled and trained technical

personnel None of our employees are represented by labor union and have never experienced work stoppage From time

to time we retain thirdparty contractors to assist us in manufacturing operations and engineering and product development

projects

A1IITIONAI INFORMATION

ur Annual Report on orm 0K Quarterly Reports on Form 0Q and urrent Reports on Form SK and amendments to these

reports that are filed with the SI pursuant to Section 3a or 15d ofthe Act are available flee of charge through

our websi te www.in.com as soon as reasonably practicable fter we electronically file them with or flirni sh them to the

St
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Ihe following are some of the Iictors that could materially and adversely affct our titure performance or could cause actual

results to difir materially from those expressed or implied in our frwardlooking statements The risks and uncertainties

described below are not the only ones ficing us and we cannot predict every event and circumstance that may adversely affect our

business lowever these risks and uncertainties are the most significant factors that we have identified at this time If one or

more of these risks actually occurs our business results of operations and/or financial condition would likely sufir and the

price
of our stock could he negatively afkcted

Current global economic conditions have had an impact on our business and may continue to do so

Iemand lr our products and our operating results depend on worldwide economic conditioiis and their Impact on levels of

business spending which deteriorated significantly in many countries and regions in late 200 and throughout 2009 While

economic conditions began to improve during late 2009 in many countries and regions they still remain well below historical

levels and may remain depressed fir the freseeahle future These uncertainties have caused our customers to cancel or postpone

deliveries of ordered systems and not to place new orders Continued global economic uncertainties may continue to depress

future sales of our products and services

our sales are affected the cclicalit of the semiconductor industry which causes our operating results to fluctuate

significantly

ur business depends in significant part upon the capital expenditures of semiconductor manuftcturers Capital expenditures by

these companies depend upon among other things the current and anticipated market demand fir semiconductors and the

products that utili.e them Typically semiconductor manuflicturers curtail capital expenditures during periods of economic

downtown onversely semiconductor manufacturers increase capital expenditures when market demand requires the addit ion of

new or expanded production capabilities or the reconfiguration of existing fabrication facilities to accommodate new products

These market changes have contributed in the past and will likely continue to contribute in the liiture to fluctuations in our

operating results

New statutory and regulatory requirements could adversely affect our operating results

The fderal government has launched an aggressive statutory and regulatory agenda with the goal of enacting social and

economic relrms Ihis agenda includes recently enacted health care reform legislation as well as proposed financial system

regulatory refOrm and proposed climate change and other environmental legislation and regulations In addition many state and

local governments are faced with budget crises that arc causing these bodies to consider enacting significant tax increases Our

sales and results of operations may he adversely aficted by these new legal requirements and tax increases

It is highly uncertain which of these statutory proposals will he enacted In addition once any statutes are passed it is uncertain

how the proper government agencies will enact the regulations necessary to carry out the statutory requirements Accordingly

we cannot determine the costs and other elicts of new legal requirements with certainty For example new legislation or

regulations may cause us to experience increased costs as direct result of our compliance efforts At this point we are unable to

determine the impact that newly enacted kderal healthcare legislation could have on our employersponsored medical plans We

may also indirectly experience increased costs to the extent such legal requirements increase the prices of goods and services that

we purchase as result of increased compliance costs to the vendors who provide these costs and services to us or the reduced

availability of raw materials that we need to purchase In addition we cannot determine the impact that new legal requirements or

tax increases will have on the business operations of our customers where significant increases in operating costs due to the costs

to comply with new legal requirements or tax increases may reduce their future product development and capital spending

budgets both of which may adversely impact our future revenues and profitability
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We may not he able to raise additional funds necessary to finance our operations on favorable terms or at all

II istoncal ly we have financed our operations through the cash flow generated by operations fowever in recent years we have

utilized significant portion of our cash and cash equivalents to fand our operations due to losses we experienced in 2007 200
and 2009 In late 2009 we retained the services of thirdparty financial intermediary to assist us in obtaining proposals from

various lenders to provide $2.0 million revolving line of credit secured by our assets tipon receipt of the proposals from several

lenders we chose to not put secured revolving line of credit in place due to the improvements we were experiencing in our

business and our outlook for the first quarter of 2010 However should our business decline in the fature and we are not able to

reduce our operating expenses we may need additional funds to operate our business and we may not he able to raise those fuinds

on favorable terms or at all

If we are not able to reduce our operating expenses during periods of weak demand or if we utilize significant amounts of

cash to implement our acquisition strategy or other strategic alternatives we will erode our cash resources and may not

have sufficient cash to operate our businesses

As of lecemher 31 2009 we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.6 million As of February 2010 we had cash and cash

equivalents of S3.4 million In light of the depressed conditions in the semiconductor industry and the global economic recession

we initiated series of restructuring and cost reduction programs during the linirth quarter of 200 and early 2009 in order to

conserve cash and reduce costs These actions included workflrce reductions temporary salary reductions furloughs and facility

closures as more fully discussed in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial ondition and Results of

Operations below In response to improved business conditions we eliminated all furloughs in our operations in late 2009 and

reinstated salaries for most employees at the beginning of 2010 We may incur additional restructuring charges in fuiture periods

however we cannot predict the amount of such charges at this time Under present market conditions and with our present

resources our goals remain to conserve cash control costs and generate sales of our products If we are unable to meet these

goals then we may not have sufficient cash to operate our business

Our operating results often change significantly from quarter to quarter and may cause fluctuations in our stock price

luring the last several years our operating results have fluctuated significantly fiom quarter to quarter We believe that these

fluctuations occur primarily due to the cycles of demand in the semiconductor manufacturing industry In addition to the changing

cycles of demand in the semiconductor manufacturing industry other factors that have caused our quarterly operating results to

fluctuate in the past and that may cause fluctuations and losses in the future include

the current worldwide economic slowdown

changes in the buying patterns of our customers

changes in our market share

the technological obsolescence of our inventories

quantities of our inventories greater than is reasonably likely to he utilized in future periods

significant product warranty charges

the recording of valuation allowances against dekrred tax assets

competitive pricing pressures

the impairment of our assets due to reduced future demand for our products

excess manufacturing capacity

our ability to control operating costs

costs associated with implementing our restructuring initiatives

delays in shipments of our products

the mix of our products sold

the mix of customers and geographic regions where we sell our products

changes in the level of our fixed costs

costs associated with the development of our proprietary technology

costs and timing of integration of our acquisitions and plant consolidations and relocations
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our ability to obtain raw materials or fihricated parts when needed

increases in costs ra materials

cancel lat ion or rescheduling orders by our customers and

political or economic in stability

Hecause the market price of our common stock has tended to vary based on and in relation to changes in our operating results

fluctuations in the market price of our stock are likely to continue as variations in our quarterly results continue

We have experienced varsing levels of product arranty costs iii recent periods 11111 cannot lreIiCt the level of such CoSts

that we may incur in future periods

We accrue product warranty charges quarterly based upon our historical claims experience In addition from time to time we

accrue additional amounts based upon known product warranty issues such as product retrofits For the years ended lecemher

31 2009 and 200g our product warranty charges were S3MM and S55.000 or 0.30 and 0.1 of net revenues respectively he

level of our product warranty charges both in absolute dollars and as percentage of net revenues is affected by number of

factors including the cyclicality of demand in the Alil industry the prototype nature of much of our business the complex nature

of many of our products the introduction of new product fini il ies which typically have higher levels of warranty claims than

existing product flimilies and at our discretion providing warranty repairs or replacements to customers after the contractual

warranty period has expired in order to promote strong customer relations If our products have reliability quality or other

problems or the market perceives our products to he deficient we may sufier reduced orders higher iiuinuliicturing costs delays

in collecting accounts receivable and higher service support and warranty expenses

Our business is subject to intense competition

We fice significant competition throughout the world in each of our product segments Some of our competitors ha substantial

financial resources and more extensive design and production capabilities than we do In order to remain competitive we must be

able to continually comm it significant port ion of our personnel and financial resources to de eloping new products and

maintaining customer satishiction worldwide We expect our competitors to continue to improve the perhirmance of their current

products and introduce new products or technologies More recently in respoiise to significant declines in global demand fr our

products some competitors have reduced their product pricing significantly which has led to intensified price based competition

which cou 11 materially adversely ffect our business financial condition and results of operations

We generate large portion of our sales from small number of customers If we were to lose one or more of our large

customers operafing results could suffer dramatically

Iexas Instruments Inc accounted fr 14 and ofour consolidated net revenues in 2009 and 200g respectiely While all

three of our operating segments sold to this customer these revenues were primarily generated by our Mechanical Products and

Ilectrical Products segments ur ten largest customers accounted fr approximately 42o and 47 of our net revenues in 2009

and 20 respectively Ihe loss of any one or more of our largest customers or reduction in orders by niator customer con Id

materially reduce our net revenues or other se niateri ally ffect our business financial condition or results of operations

hanges in the buying patterns of our customers have affected and fllay continue to affect demand for our products anI

our gross and net operating margins Such changes in patterns are difficult to predict and ma not he immediately

apparent

In addition to the cyclical ity of the semiconductor market demand for our products and our gross and net operating margins have

also been aItected by changes in the buying patterns of our customers We believe that in recent years
there have been variety of

changes within the AlE market including for example changing product requirements longer time periods between new

product offerings and changes in customer buying patterns In particular demand for our mechanical and electrical

products which are sold exclusively within the All industry and our operating margins in these product segments have been

ffected by shifts in the competitive landscape including customers placing heightened emphasis on shorter lead inies which
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places increased demands on our available engineering and production capacity increasing unit costs and ordering in smaller

quantities which prevents us from acquiring component materials in larger volumes at lower cost and increasing unit costs ii
the

increasing practice of lM manuticturers to specify other suppliers as priniaiy vendors with less frequent opportunities to

compete 11w such designations iii customers requiring products with greater range of use at the lowest cost and iv customer

supply line management groups demanding lower prices and spreading purchases across multiple vendors These shills in market

practices have had and may continue to have varying degrees of impact on our net revenues and our gross and net operating

margins Such shills are di flicu It to predict and may not he immediately apparent and the impact of these practices is difficult to

quantify from period to period there can he no assurance that we will he successful in implementing elThctive strategies to

counter these shitts

Our customers purchasing patterns can vary signiftcantl from month to month and cannot he easily predicted thus

resulting in fluctuations in our backlog and quarterI results

ur backlog at ecemher 2009 was S4.6 million compared to 2.4 million at Ieceniher 200g ur backlog at the

beginning of quarter typically toes not include all orders necessary to achieve our sales ohectives fuir that quarter rders in our

backlog are subject to cancellation delay or rescheduling by our customers with limited or no penalties or ability to collect bill

hack amounts throughout recent years we have experienced customerrequested shipment delays and order cancellations and

we believe it is probable that orders will he cancel led and/or delayed in the fliture In addition during downturn some of our

customers may rely on short lead times generally available from suppliers including us whereas in periods of stronger demand
and longer lead times customers need to hook orders earlier

We have experienced problems with several customers in collecting outstanding accounts receivable due to cash f1o
difficulties related to the global economic recession

II istorical ly the majority of our customers have paid their outstandi
rig

accounts recei ahle due to is within 30 to 60 days of the

shipment date Recently as result of the global economic recession we have seen many of our customers delay the payment of

their outstanding accounts receivable due to us In addition we had two customers enter bankruptcy which caused us to either

fully write off or partially write off the outstanding accounts receivable they owed us We may have additional customers seek

rd el under hank ruptcy that would delay the collect ion of other outstandi
rig

accounts receivable or cause additional write Ifs of

accounts receivable as had debt As result we may need to begin to flictor our accounts receivable or obtain secured lines of

credit at interest rates much higher than we have Ii istorica ly been ffered fur such Ii nes of credit in order to ma inta in reasonable

levels of cash to operate our business

If we do not continue to retain the services of key personnel relationships with and sales to some of our customers could

suffer which could have negative impact on our business

the loss of key personnel could adversely afiect our ability to manage our business eflectively Our future success will depend

largely upon the continued services of our senior management and other key employees During 2009 in response to the

signilicant operating losses we have sustained and in an efThrt to conserve cash we impleniented workfurce reductions temporary

salary reductions and furloughs reduced or eliminated certain employee benefits arid closed ficilities these actions have had

negative impact on overall employee morale In
response to improved business conditions in late 2009 we eliminated all

furloughs flu employees in our operations and restored salaries for most employees and hoard retainers fOr directors in the

beginning of 2010 We currently plan to restore the 401k Plan discretionary matching contribution for all domestic employees
on April 2010 lo date we have riot experienced any significant employee turnover as result of these actions which we
believe is most likely the result of the impact of the global economic recession and increased levels of unemployment in most of

the markets in which we operate As global economic conditions improve and employment opportunities increase if we are

unable to increase employee salaries and maintain employee benefits which have been previously reduced or eliminated we may
not he able to retain our senior management and other key employees ur business could suffer if we are unable to retain one of

more of our senior oflicers or other key employees

Significant fluctuations in our net revenues and operating results strain our management employees and other resources

ver the last several years we have experienced significant fluctuations in our net revenues and operating results As result of

these sometimes sudden and significant changes in our market we have implemented cost controls including salary and

l7-
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benefit reductions furloughs and restructured our operations We may implement additional new initiatives to more closely align

our cost structure with current market demands Such fluctuations in our net revenues and operating results compensation

changes and restructuring place strain on our management employees and other resources

Our industry is subject to rapid technological change and our business prospects would be negatively affected if we are

unable to quickly and effectively respond to innovation in the semiconductor industry

Semiconductor technology continues to become more complex as manufacturers incorporate Ks into an increasing variety of

products This trend and the changes needed in automatic testing systems to respond to developments in the semiconductor

industry are likely to continue We cannot he certain that we will he successtiil or timely in developing manufacturing or selling

products that will satisfy customer needs or that will attain market acceptance Our failure to provide products that elictively and

timely meet customer needs or gain market acceptance will negatively afiect our business prospects

If we are not able to obtain patents on or otherwise preserve and protect our proprietary technologies our business may

suffer

We have obtained domestic and freign patents covering some of our products which expire
between the

years
2010 and 2025

and we have applications pending fr additional patents Some of our products utilize proprietary technology that is not covered

by patent or similarprotection and in many cases cannot he protected We cannot he certain that

any additional patents will he issued on our applications

any patents we own now or in the tiiture will protect our business against competitors that develop similar

technology or products

our patents will he held valid if they are challenged or subjected to reexamination or reissue

others will not claim rights to our patented or other proprietary technologies or

others will not develop technologies which are similar to or can compete with our unpatented proprietary

technologies

If we cannot obtain patent or other protection far our proprietary technologies our ability to compete in our markets could he

impaired

laims of intellectual property infringement by or against us could seriously harm our businesses

Irm time to time we may he farced to respond to or prosecute intellectual property infringement claims to detnd or protect our

rights or customers rights These claims regardless of merit may consume valuable management time result in costly litigation

or cause product shipment delays Any of these factors could seriously harm our business and operating results We may have to

enter into royalty or licensing agreements with third parties who claim infringement These royalty or licensing agreements if

available may he costly to us If we are unable to enter into royalty or licensing agreements with satisfactory terms our business

could sulir In instances where we have had reason to believe that we may he infringing the patent rights of others or that

someone may he infringing our patent rights we have asked our patent counsel to evaluate the validity of the patents in question

as well as the potentially infringing conduct If we become involved in dispute neither the third parties nor the courts are hound

by our counsels conclusions

We seek to acquire additional businesses If we are unable to do so our future rate of growth may be reduced or limited

key element of our growth strategy is to acquire businesses technologies or products that expand and complement our current

businesses We may not he able to execute our acquisition strategy if

we are unable to identify suitable businesses or technologies to acquire

we do not have the cash or access to required capital at the necessary time or

we are unwilling or unable to outbid larger more resourceful companies
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Our acquisition strategy involves financial and management risks which may adversely affect our results in the future

If we acquire additional businesses technologies or products we will fiice the fullowing additional risks

future acquisitions could divert managements attention from daily operations or otherwise require additional

management operational and financial resources

we might not he able to integrate future acquisitions into our business successfully or operate acquired businesses

profitably

we may realie substantial acquisition related expenses which would reduce our net earnings in future years and

our investigation of potential acquisition candidates may not reveal problems and liabilities of the companies that we
acquire

If any of the events described above occur our earnings could he reduced If we issue shares of our stock or other rights to

purchase our stock in connection with any future acquisitions we would dilute our existing stockholders interests and our

earnings per share may decrease If we issue debt in connection with any future acquisitions lenders may impose covenants on us

which could among other things restrict our ability to increase capital expenditures or to acquire additional businesses

substantial portion of our operations exists outside the U.S which exposes us to foreign political and economic risks

We have operated internationally fr many years and expect to expand our international operations as necessary to continue

expansion of our sales and service to our nontJ.S customers ur fureign subsidiaries generated 14% and 27% of consolidated

net revenues in 2009 and 2008 respectively Export sales from our iS manufacturing facilities totaled $11 .7 million or 50% of

consolidated net revenues in 2009 and SI 7.0 million or 44% of consolidated net revenues in 2008 The portion of our

consolidated net revenues that were derived from sales by our subsidiaries in the Asialacifie region was 8% in 2009 and 5% in

2008 We expect our international revenues will continue to represent significant portion ot total net revenues lowever in

addition to the risks generally associated with sales and operations in the U.S sales to customers outside the U.S and operations

in fureign countries are subject to additional risks which may in the future afiect our operations These risks include

political and economic instability in fureign countries

the imposition of financial and operational controls and regulatory restrictions by freign governments

the need to comply with wide variety of U.S and fiireign import and export laws

trade restrictions

changes in taritis and taxes

longer payment cycles

fluctuations in currency exchange rates and

the greater difliculty of administering business abroad

significant portion of our cash position is maintained overseas

While much of our cash is in the U.S. significant portion is generated from and maintained by our foreign operations ur
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted if we are unable to maintain sufficient level of cash

flow in the U.S to address our cash requirements or we are unable to efficiently and timely repatriate cash from overseas Any
payment of distributions loans or advances to us by our foreign subsidiaries could be subject to restrictions on or taxation of
dividends or repatriation of earnings under applicable local law monetary transfer restrictions and foreign currency exchange

regulations in the jurisdictions in which our subsidiaries operate If we are unable to repatriate the earnings of our subsidiaries it

could have an adverse impact on our ability to redeploy earnings in other jurisdictions where they could he used more profitably
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We conduct business in foreign currencies and fluctuations in the values of those currencies could result in foreign

exchange losses

In 2009 approximately 2% of our net revenLies were denominated in Japanese yen and approximately were denominated in

Furos Iuring 2009 we recorded freign exchange currency transaction gains
of $63000 uture fluctuations in the value of the

FurL we closed our Japanese subsidiary in 1ecemher 2009 and do not expect to have fiture sales in Japanese Yen at this time

could result in foreign exchange gains or losses Any strengthening of the U.S dollar in relation to the currencies of our

competitors or customers or strengthening or weakening of the FurL in relation to other currencies in which our customers or

competitors do business could adversely atlct our competitiveness Moreover strengthening of the U.S dollar or other

competitive fictors could put pressure on us to denominate greater portion of our sales in freign currencies thereby increasing

our exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates Any devaluation of these currencies would hurt our business We do not undertake

hedging activities against the majority of our exchange rate risk Fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely afict our

competitive position or result in fireign exchange losses either of which could cause our business to sufkr

Changes in securities laws and regulations have increased and may continue to increase our costs of compliance with

such laws and regulations

hanges in securities laws and regulations have increased our legal compliance and financial reporting costs Additional recent

changes and future changes in securities regulations are expected to continue to affect our costs In order to comply with certain

requirements of the Sarhanes xley Act such as the internal control system requirements of Section 404 of the Act we have

incurred and expect to incur significant additional expenses in future periods to comply with these new requirements including

the requirement fr the examination of our internal control system by our independent registered public accounting firm during

the year ended ecemher 2010 We are continuing to evaluate and monitor regulatory developments and cannot estimate the

timing or magnitude of additional costs we may incur as result

lhe inability to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting may result in loss of investor confidence in

the accuracy and completeness of our financial reporting

Section 404 of the Sarhanes xley Act of 2002 and the accompanying rules and regulations promulgated by the SF to

implement that law require us to include in our Annual Reports on Form 10K report by our management regarding the

efhctiveness of our internal control over financial reporting We will he required to include in our Annual Reports on Form 10K

fr the years ending on or afler Iecemher 2010 an attestation report by our independent registered public accounting firm

our RPA reporting as to whether it believes we maintained in all material respects efThctive internal control over financial

reporting as of the end of the relevant year During our assessment process
if our management identifies one or more material

weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting that cannot he remediated in timely manner we may he unable to

assert that our internal control is effective While our assessment as reported in Item 9Al of this Report is that our internal

control over financial reporting was effective as of Iecemher 2009 the efictiveiiess of our internal control in future periods

cannot he assured and the effctiveness of our internal control over financial reporting may deteriorate If we are unable to assert

that our internal control over financial reporting is efictive as of any future date or if our RPA does not attest to the

efThctiveness of our internal control we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports

which could have an adverse effect on our stock
price

Should we fall to timely file our future required filings with the Securities and Exchange ommission SIX or

maintain closing bid price of $1.00 or more per share our common shares could be delisted from trading on NASIAQ
which could materially adversely affect the liquidity of our common shares the price of our common shares and our

ability to raise additional capital

1uring 2009 we were not in compliance with the requirements tbr continued listing on NASIAQ due to the late filing of our

Annual Report on lorm 10K fr the fiscal year ended Ieceniher 200 and our Quarterly Report on form 0Q fr the period

ending March 31 2009 We regained compliance with the NASIAQ continued listing standards upon filing the Form 10K on

July 2009 and the lorm 0Q on July 2009 which were within the allowed extension period Another requirement
fr

continued listing is that the closing hid price fr our common stock he above SI .00 per
share the Minimum Rid Price Rule

ur closing hid price fell below SI .00 on ctoher 200X and regained compliance by closing above SI .00 fr 10 consecutive
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business days on lecemher 22 2009 We coukl he late in filing ftiture annual or quarterly sl filings for various reasons and our

closing hid price coukl ftll below SI .00 fr an extended period of time we do not tile our annual or quarterly SF filings

within the required timeframe or allowed extension period or if our closing hid price fulls below SI .00 for an extended period of

time our common shares could he delisted from trading on the NASIAQ which couki materially adversely atkct the liquidity of

our common shares the price of our common shares and our ability to raise additional capital

Item UNRESOIXEI STAFF ONiMENIS

None

Item PROPERTIES

At Iecemher 31 2009 we leased facilities worldwide lhe fallowing chart provides information regarding each of our

principal facilities that we occupied at Iecemher 31 2009

.fpprox

Lease Square

Loaiwn xpiralw IugaLe PrIflIpa/ ses

berry lill NJ 9/10 80.00 orporate headquarters and design manufacturing service

and sales mechanical products

Sharon MA 2/Il 62.400 1esign manufacturing service and sales thermal products

San Jose 4/12 25.0S Iesign manufacturing service and sales electrical products

We currently have excess space in all facilities we lease and expect these facilities will meet our fareseeahle fuiture needs In

September 2009 we vacated our leased offices in lokyo Japan upon expiration of the six month notice period required under the

lease Our Japanese operation which was part of our Mechanical Products segment was closed as part of our restructuring

initiatives Sales of our mechanical products that had been handled through this operation are now handled through our operation

in herry Jill New Jersey In Iecemher 2009 we requested and received two month extension to the existing lease on our

herry lill New Jersey facility This lease extension was granted in connection with our planned relocation from our berry
lill New Jersey facility to 50.515 square faot facility located in Mount laurel NJ We expect to sign the lease fr the Mount

Laurel New Jersey facility early in the second quarter of 2010 Ibis lease will expire 123 months atter we take occupancy which

is expected to occur in late October 2010

Item I.E PROCEEDINCS

From time to time we may he party to legal proceedings occurring in the ordinary course of business We are not currently

involved in any material legal proceedings

Item Removed and Reserved
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Item MARKET FOR RFCOMMON EQUITY RFLAIEI STOKIIOIJWR MAIIF ANI ISSUER

PURHASES OF EQUITY sFcuRlIIFs

Our common stock is traded on NASIAQ under the symbol INTF ftc fillowing table sets forth the high and low sale prices

of our common stock as reported on the NASIAQ apital Market fir the periods indicated Sale prices have been rounded to

the nearest ti II cent

2n0

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

ourth Quarter

200

Saks Price

ii.
.3 .11

.32 .11

So .16

2.26 .31

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter

March 15 2010 the closing price for our common stock as reported on the NASIAQ apital Market was SI .40 As of March

2010 we had 10301 .456 shares outstanding that were hekl of record by approxiiriately 75 beneficial and record holders

We have not paid dividends on our common stock since our initial public offering in 997 and we do not plan to pay
cash

dividends in the foreseeable future Our current policy is to retain any titurc earnings fOr reinvestment in the operation and

expansion of our business including possible acquisitions of other businesses technologies or products Payment of any future

dividends will he at the discretion of our hoard of directors In addition our current credit agreement prohibits us from paying

cash dividends without the lenders prior consent

Item SFLEC1EI FINANCIAL IAIA

The fOllowing table contains certain selected consolidated financial data of inFFSF and is qualified by the more detailed

onsolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10K and should he read

in conjunction with Managements Iiscussion and Analysis of Financial ondition and Results of perations and the other

tinancial infOrmation included in this Annual Report on orm 10K

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations Iata

Net revenues S23.499

margin
13

Operating income loss 5.046

Net earnings loss 4.43
Net earnings loss per common share

Rasic 50.49

kited S0.49

Weighted average common shares outstanding

I3asic 9.975

Iilutcd 9.975

cars Ended Iecember 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

in 1/11115 1111/S cpl pel shac c/ala

S379 S4.705 562346 553.359

3.75 S695 26307 l970

9440 653 3.520 350
9133 6.739 27l 3620

S0.97 50.73 $0.32 50.4

0.97 50.73 50.3 $0.41

9.465 921 9.047 .807

9.465 9.2 IS 9.1 07

2.59 1.75

2.20 1.60

.97 .05

l.l .10
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As of Iecernher 31
2009 2008 2007 2006

in l/1U%iPiIS

2005

7.295

16.195

30t69

23

22 0o

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Iata
ash and cash equivalents 2.647 7.137 $12.21 SI 3.174

Working capital 6252 060 649 20393

Fotal assets 15.144 20492 27.723 35759

.ongterm debt net of current portion 1.144 1.526 lb

Total stockholders equity S.594 13.467 21.507 26.22

Item NIANA DISCUSSION ANt ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAl ONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATI ONS

Overview

1liis IA should he read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements See also Item IA Risk

Factors

Our business and results of operations are substantially dependent upon the demand for ATE by semiconductor manuflicturers and

companies that specialize in the testing of Is 1emand fbr ATE is driven by semiconductor manulicturers that are opening new
or expanding existing semiconductor fuibrication flicilities or upgrading existing equipment which in turn is dependent upon the

current and anticipated market demand for semiconductors and products incorporating semiconductors In the past the

semiconductor industry has been highly cyclical with recurring periods of oversupply which often have severe impact on the

semiconductor industrys demand fbr ATE including the products we manutuiciure This can cause wide fluctuations in both our

orders and net revenues and depending on our ability to react quickly to these shills in demand can significantly impact our

results of operations These industry cycles are difficult to predict and in recent years have become more volatile and in most

cases shorter in duration l3ecause the industry cycles are generally characterized by sequential periods of growth or declines in

orders and net revenues during each cycle year over year comparisons of operating results may not always he as meaningful as

comparisons of periods at similar points in either up or down cycles In addition during both downward and upward cycles in our

industry in any given quarter the trend in both our orders and net revenues can he erratic This can occur fuir example when

orders are canceled or currently scheduled delivery dates are accelerated or postponed by significant customer or when customer

fuirecasts and general business conditions fluctuate during quarter

We believe that purchases of most of our products are typically made from semiconductor manufacturers capital expenditure

budgets ertain portions of our business however are generally less dependent upon the capital expenditure budgets of the end

users For example purchases of certain related ATE interface products such as sockets and interface hoards which must he

replaced periodically are typically made from the end users operating budgets In addition purchases of certain of our products

such as docking hardware far the purpose of upgrading or improving the utilization performance and etiiciency of existing All
tend to he counter cyclical to sales of new ATE Moreover we believe portion of our sales of thermal products results from the

increasing need far temperature testing of circuit hoards and specialized components that do not have the design or quantity to he

tested in an electronic device handler In addition in recent years we have begun to market our Thermostream temperature

management systems in industries outside semiconductor test such as the automotive aerospace medical and

telecommunications industries We believe that these industries usually are less cyclical than the ATE industry

uring 2009 the deterioration in the global economy that began in 2008 continued to have significant negative impact on the

demand far ATE All ofour product segments experienced declines in demand during this period luring 2t09 our consolidated

orders declined $11 .4 million or 1% as compared to 2008 Adjusted to eliminate the orders of Sigma Systems Corp Sigiria
which we acquired in October 2008 as further discussed in Note to our consolidated financial statements our consolidated

orders would have declined $13.5 million or 38% We believe the significant declines in our orders luring 2009 were due to the

reduction in demand fbr ATE resulting from falling ATE utilization rates at our customers who have experienced weakened

demand far their products due to the global economic recession Although 2009 as whole experienced lower levels of demand

than in 2008 during the second
quarter of 2009 we started to see some positive indicators in the industry This increase in
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demand in the AtE industry resu lied in sequential quarterly growth in both our orders and net revenues luring the second th id

and fourth quarters of 2009 ur consolidated orders increased from the first to the second quarter of 2119 73 lioni the

second to the third quarter of 2009 and 19 from the third to the fourth quarter of 2009 ur consolidated net revenues increased

60 from the first to the second quarter of 2009 29 from the second to the third quarter of 2009 and 40 fiom the third to the

fnirth quarter of

While the majority of our orders and net revenues are derived from the AlI market our operating results do not always fiIIow

the overall trend in the AFF market in
any given period We believe that these anomalies may he driven by variety of changes

within the AtI market including fir example changing product requirements longer time periods between new product

offrings by EMs and changes in customer buying patterns In particular demand 6r our mechanical and electrical products

which are sold exclusively within the ATE industry and our operating margins in these product segments have been afThcted by

shills in the competitive landscape including customers placing heightened emphasis on shorter lead times which places

increased demands on our available engineering and production capacity increasing unit costs and ordering in smaller quantities

which prevents us from acquiring component materials in larger volumes at lower cost and increasing unit costs ii the

increasing practice of IM manuficturers to specify other suppliers as primary vendors with less frequent opportunities to

compete 6r such designations iii the increased role of thirdparty test and assembly houses in the AlE market and their

requirement of products with greater range of use at the lowest cost and iv customer supply line management groups

demanding lower prices and spreading purchases across multiple vendors In addition due to the current global recession several

semiconductor manuficturers have fiiled which has resulted in significant amount of used AIE equipment coining onto the

market which has reduced demand fir certain types of new ATE equipment While the supply of used equipment on the market

has negatively impacted demand in all our product segments we believe our Ihernial Products segment has experienced higher

level of loss of current sales due to this issue We currently expect the increased demand fbr AlE equipment will consume the

supply of used equipment within several quarters hut we cannot determine with any degree of certainty when this issue of

oversupply of used equipment will cease these shifts in market practices have had and may continue to have varying levels of

impact on our operating results which are di flicult to quantify or predict from period to period Management has taken and will

continue to take such actions it deems appropriate to adjust our strategies products and operations to counter such shifts in

market practices as they become evident

Net Rttenues OPICI Orders

the following table sets fbrth for the periods indicated breakdown of the net revenues from unaftiliated customems both by

product segment and geographic area based on the location of the selling entity

Years Fnded

lecember 31
2199 2008

reenues front unaffliwied customer

Mechanical Products 9961 SI 50
lhernial Products.......................................................... .952 IS.753

Electrical Products ................................................ 276 6759

lnterseginent sales..................................................... 1.174 1.723

523.499 S3579

Intersegment salts

Mechanical Iroducts........................................................................ II 27

thermal lroducts............................................................................ SI .237

Electrical Products..................................................................... 345 459

1174 1.723

Net revenues from unaffihiated customers net oJintersegment sales

Mechanical Products........................................... 995 14974

lhermal Products.............................................. 11134 17.516

Electrical Products.............................................................. 241 630

S23.499 53579
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ears Fuithd

lkciiiher 31
2009 2008

revtlue.s from unaf/ilwed usfomer
U.S 522 529 22
I.urope 1491 3.88%

AsiaPacific 799 77
523.499 538.791

ur consolidated net revenues hir the year ended lecember 31 2009 decreased 515.3 million or 39 as coiiipared to 2008 Ihe

net revenues net of ntersegment sales of our Mechanical Fherma and led rica Products
segments decreased 34 36 and

62% respectively during 2009 as compared to 200% Adpusted to exclude the net revenues of Sigma our consolidated net

revenues wou Id have decreased by 8.0 mill ion or 4% and the net revenues net of ntersegment sales of our thermal Products

segment in which the results of Sigma are included would have decreased by 5500 in 2009 as compared to 2008 As previousl
mentioned we have seen positive trend in our net revenues in the last three quarters of 2119 ur consolidated net revenues for

the furt quarter of 2009 increased 410 compared to the third quarter oft he year and 92 compared to the first quarter of 2109

Iota orders fbr the year ended ecemher 31 2009 decreased to $25.6 Tin II ion on consolidated basis as compared to $37.0

million for 200% lor our Mechanical thermal and lIectrical Products segments total orders fr 2009 were $12.2 million SI 1.0

million and 52.5 million respectively compared to $14.3 million $17.1 million and $5.6 million respectively h.r 200%

Adjusted to exclude the orders of Sigma total consolidated orders for 2009 would have been 5221 million as compared to 535
mill ion fr 210% and total orders fr our Ihermal Products segment fr 2009 would ha been 57.3 in ill ion as compared to 56
million fr 200% lowever similar to the recent trend in our net reenues noted aboe our consolidated orders fr the fnirth

quarter of 2009 increased 19 compared to the third quarter of the ear and 151 compared to the first quarter of 2009

uri ng 2t09 our net revenues fiom customers in the .5 decreased tier ad ustmnent to eli mi nate the impact of changes in

foreign currency exchange rates our net revenues from customers in lurope and Asia decreased 59 and 6% respectively

during 2009 as compared to 200% the larger percentage decrease in our net reven ties fiom customers in urope and Asia

primarily reflects the closure of our Intestlogic operation in iermany during the finirth quarter of 200% and the closure of our

operation in Japan during 2009 In addition Itiring 2009 we ceased manu hict un ng Mechanical Products in our operation in

Singapore Sales that would have been handled by these operations are now hand led through our operation in herr II ill

Jersey

At Iecemher 31 2019 our backlog of unfilled orders fr aft prolucts as approxiniatelv 54.6 iiiillion compared with

approximately $2.4 million at lecemher 31 2008 ur backlog includes customer orders which we ha accepted substantiaII

all of which we expect to deliver in 211 While hack log is calculated on the basis of firm purchase orders customer may cancel

an order or accelerate or postpone currently scheduled del very dates ur hack log may he affcted by the tendency of customers
to rely on short lead times available from suppliers including us in periods of depressed demand In periods of increased

demand there is tendency towards longer lead times that has the ffct of increasing back log As result our hack log at

particular date is not necessarily indicative ofsales fbr
any future period

Iiu.iizevc Re.IrIIIuing /nithilive.s

In early 200% we commenced review of our operations to more aggressively streamline our cost structure in hue with the

current business environment he review of our operations is ongoing As part of this process we are fcusing on methods to

increase our protitahility worldwide including pursuing other types of revenue streams and additional growth opportunities In

he latter part of 200% and throughout 2009 we have Iso implemented several restructuring plans these restruct umi
ng plans ha

included workforce reductions fimeility closures and consolidations and other temporary and permanent salary and benefit

reductions fr most rema iii ng employees lhese act ions are described iii detail in Note to our consolidated fi nanc ia statements
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In addit loll in April 2009 we retained financial advisor to assist us in assessing our strategic al ternat C5 to enhance operat tug

performance and shareholder value We determined that under then current iriarket conditions and with our then current iesoIlrce

our goals were to continue conserving cash reducing costs and generating sales of our products Since that time we ha

implemented strategies consistent with those goals and remain committed to those ohectives We also continue to consider othcr

alternatives as we may deem appropriate While these strategies appear
to have been efictive in allowing us to reach our goals

there can he no assurance that we will continue to he successful in generating
sufficient additional sales and conserving cash If

we do not continue to generate additional sales or conserve our cash position then we will need to obtain financing to satisl our

working capital needs We are not certain that such financial will he available on acceptable terms or at all if and when we need

it See Item IA Risk Factors

The increase in our net revenues during the turth quarter of 2009 as previously mentioned combined with the impact of certain

of our restructuring plans which were implemented earlier in the year resulted in profitability on consolidated basis in the furth

quarter of 2009 We currently expect that our orders in the first quarter of 2010 will he above the level we achieved in the 6.urth

quarter of 2009 In light of this we expect that we will he profitable on consolidated basis in the first quarter of 2010 Based on

the increased level of our orders and our Rrecasts that indicate that we will continue to experience this higher level of net

revenues and accordingly profitability we restored all of the temporary salary reductions we implemented in 2008 and 2009 kr

our domestic employees effctive January 2010 with the exception of the salary of our l.xecutive hairman which was

restored to approximately 65% of its full reinstated level ef1ctive January 2010 reflecting voluntary continued 350

reduction in his salary We currently plan to restore tile 401k Plan discretionary matching contribution fr all domestic

employees on April 2010 ihis discretionary matching contribution was suspended fr most of these employees at the

beginning of 2009 We continue to explore other methods to improve our profitability including further hicility consolidation

IflJkWiflflt Iiwits

ienerally accepted accounting principles require us to perfbrm at least an annual assessment fr impairment of good ill and

other indefinite Ilk intangible assets and to monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate carrying amounts of

longlived assets may not he recoverable At December 31 2009 and 2008 we had goodwill and indefinite lik intangible assets

which totaled $2.2 million At December 31 2009 and 2008 we also had longlived assets which totaled $1.0 million and SI .5

million respectively These long-lived assets consisted of finitelived intangible assets of $702000 and 5836.000 respectively

and property
and equipment of $29700 and $617000 respectively Iuring 2008 we recorded an impairment charge for

goodwill of 130000 and we recorded an impairment charge related to longlived assets of SI .4 million There were no similar

charges recorded in 2009 Please rekr to Note of tile fbotnotes to our consolidated financial statements fr turther discussion of

our annual goodwill intangible and longlived asset impairment review process as well as the charges that resulted from this

process in 2008

Acquisitions

In July 2008 we acquired tile assets of liamond Integration L.L.. Diamond business that provides post-warranty service

for ATE equipment to semiconductor manufacturers The total cost to acquire these assets was $262000 he results of 1iamond

are included in our Mechanical Products segment Please see Note of the fotnotes to our consolidated financial statements fr

detail of the purchase price allocation

On October 2008 we acquired Sigma manuftcturer of thermal plattirms custom configured env ironinental cflainbers and

other environmental test solutions fir variety of industries including automotive nledical/pharnlaceutical electronic

aerospace/defense and AlE Sigma is included in our Thermal lroducts segment and has expanded our product offerings outside

the AlE market We believe Sigmas products are highly complementary to our other thermal products and will greatly ftcilitate

our further penetration into nonA II markets The purchase price was approximately $3.5 million and was paid with SI .0 nlillioil

in cash 550000 shares of our common stock and the issuance of nonnegotiable promissory notes in an aggregate principal

amount equal to $1 .5 million In addition during the closing of the transaction we repaid $303000 of debt on tile hooks of Sigiria

and incurred transaction costs of $226000 Please see Note of the fotnotes to our consolidated financial statements fr detail of

the purchase price allocation
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E.vetss wid Thso/tIe /nvenIor harges

On quarterly basis we review our inventories and record charges far excess and obsolete inventory based upon our established

ohective excess and obsolete inventory criteria These criteria identify material that has not been used in work order during the

prior twelve months and the quantity of material on hand that is greater than the average annual usage of that material over the

prior three
years In certain cases additional excess and obsolete inventory charges are recorded based upon current industry

conditions anticipated product life cycles new product introductions and expected future use of the inventory Flie excess and

obsolete
Inventory charges we record establish new cost basis far the related inventory See also the section entitled ritical

Accounting lolicies

We incurred charges for excess and obsolete inventory of $1 .0 million far each of the years ended Iecemher 31 2009 and 2008
lhe level ofthese charges was based upon variety of factors including changes in demand far our products and new product

designs See also the section entitled Critical Accounting Policies

Iuring the years ended December 2009 and 2008 we utilized $192000 and $102000 respectively of material in production

that had been written oil as obsolete in prior periods When previously written oft inventory material is used in production it has

zero cost basis and as result has the impact of improving our gross margin in the period used For the years ended Iecemher

2009 and 2008 the use of inventory which had previously been determined to he obsolete did not materially change our gross

margin

Irdut Jf /lar5_e.s

We accrue product warranty charges quarterly based upon our historical claims experience In addition from time to time we
accrue additional amounts based upon known product warranty issues such as product retrolits For the years ended lecemher

31 2009 and 2008 our product warranty charges were $6300 and $55000 or 0.3% and 0.1% of net revenues respectively The
level of our product warranty charges both in absolute dollars and as percentage of net revenues is affected by number of

factors including the cyclicality of demand in the ATF industry the prototype nature of much ofour business the complex nature

of many of our products the introduction of new product families which typically have higher levels of warranty claims than

existing product families and at our discretion providing warranty repairs or replacements to customers after the contracted

warranty period has expired in order to promote strong customer relations See also ritical Accounting Iolicies

I/U t/ u.slomtr Mix

ur three product segments each have multiple products that we design manufacture and sell to our customers ihe gross margin

on each product we offer is impacted by number of factors including the amount of intellectual property such as patents

utiliied in the product the number of units ordered by the customer at one time or the amount of inFFSF designed and fabricated

material included in our product compared with the amount of thirdparty designed and fabricated material included in our

product Ihe weight of each of these factors as well as the current market conditions determines the ultimate sales price we can

obtain far our products and the resulting gross margin

The mix of products we sell in any period is ultimately deterniined by our customers needs Iherefare the mix of products sold

in any given period can change significantly Irom the prior period As result our consolidated gross margin can he significantly

impacted in
any given period by change in the mix of products sold in that period

We sell most of our products to semiconductor manufacturers and third-party test and assembly houses end user sales and to

All manufacturers OFM sales who ultimately resell our equipment with theirs to semiconductor manufacturers Our Thermal

Iroducts segment also sells into variety of other industries including the aerospace automotive communications consumer

electronics def.mse and medical industries The mix of customers during any given period will afiect our gross margin due to

diffring sales discounts and commissions For the years ended lecemher 2009 and 2008 our FM sales as percentage of

net revenues were 3% and 7% respectively and our sales of thermal products in other industries outside the AlE industry as

percentage of net revenues were and 5% respectively
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sales genera liv ha lower gross margin than end user sales as sales historically have had more significant

discount ur current net operating margins on most lM sales however are only slightly less than margins on end user sales

because of the payment of third party sales commissions on most end user sales We have atso continued to experience demands

from our I.M customers supply line managers to reduce our sales prices to them if we cannot further reduce our manufacturing

and operating costs these pricing pressures
will contiilue to reduce our gross

and operating margins

/sk IlhF

Ileise see tern Risk iactors for discussion of other rnportant factors that coo Id cause our results to di ffr materially from

our prior results or those expressed or implied by our h.rward looking statements

Results of Operations

All of our products are used by semiconductor manu fictureis in conjunction with in the testing of onsequent ly the

results of operations fr each product segment are generally atiected by the same factors Separate discussions and analyses lr

each product segment would he repetitive and obscure any unique
lictors that afiected the results of operations of our difThrent

product segments Ihe discussion and analysis that fbllows therefore is presented on consolidated basis fr the Company as

whole and includes discussion of flictors unique to each product segment where significant to an understanding of each segment

ihe hl lowing table sets hirth tr the periods indicated the principal items inc tided in the onsol idated Statements of

perat ions as percentage of total net reven ties

Percentage of Net Re%enues

ears Ended Ieccinber 31

2009 2008

Net revenues

ost of revenues

iross margin

Selling expense

II ngi neering and product de elopinent expense

enera and ad miiiistrati cx pense

rnpa rme nt of long Ii ed assets

Impairment of goodwill

Restructuring and other charges

Operating loss

her income

loss heh.re income tax expense benefit

Income tax expense
bene ti

Net loss

100.000 100.00

66 64.5

33.2 35.5

l.4 20.3

10.3

21.2

03

13.1

20.t

IS

0.3

2.5 1.5

21.5 24.3

0.7 0.9

20.5 23.4

0.2 0.1

20.6 23.5

ew Em/ed Ieeember 2009 wnjared to Yew Ended Itnthe3 200w

Vet /t%nU Net re enues were 523.5 million for the year ended Iecemher 31 2009 compared to 535.5 million for the saiie

period in 2005 decrease of SI 5.3 million or 39% ur net revenues during 2009 and 2005 included $3.7 million and $956000

respectively of net revenues attributable to Sigma which we acquired in October 2005 as previously discussed We believe the

significant decline in our net revenues during 2009 primarily reflects the impact which the current global economic recession has

had on the demand for ALE as previously discussed in the Overview
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During 2009 our net revenues from customers in the U.S Europe and Asia decreased 31% 62% and 68% respectively as

compared to 2008 Adjusted to eliminate the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates the decrease in net revenues

from customers in Europe and Asia would have been 59% and 68% respectively The higher percentage decreases from our

customers in Europe and Asia primarily reflect the closure of our Intestlogic subsidiary in Germany during the fourth quarter of

2008 the cessation of sales by our Japanese subsidiary during the second quarter of 2009 which was finally closed during the

fourth quarter of 2009 and the decision to stop manufacturing mechanical products in our Singaporean operation also during the

second quarter of 2009 Sales that would have been made by these operations are now handled by our Cherry Hill New Jersey

operation

Gross Margin Gross margin was 33% for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to 36% for the same period in 2008 The

decrease in
gross margin is primarily the result of an increase in our fixed operating costs as percentage of net revenues

Although our fixed operating costs decreased $2.4 million in absolute dollar terms during 2009 as compared to 2008 these costs

were not as fully absorbed due to the significantly lower net revenues levels As result these costs increased to 25% of net

revenues in 2009 from 22% of net revenues in 2008 The $2.4 million decrease in the absolute dollar amount of our fixed

operating costs primarily represents lower salaries and benefits expense reflecting the impact of our restructuring initiatives To

lesser extent depreciation expense and the cost of our corporate insurance policies also decreased in 2009 compared to 2008 The

reduction in depreciation expense was result of the impairment of long-lived assets in both our Mechanical and Electrical

Products segments during the fourth quarter of 2008 The decrease in the cost of our corporate insurance policies reflects the

lower headcount and revenue levels upon which much of the premiums for these policies are based These decreases were

partially offset by an increase in costs associated with Diamond in 2009 as compared to 2008 We had twelve months of expense

for Diamond in 2009 compared to six months of expense in 2008 We acquired Diamond in July 2008 as previously discussed

In addition to the increase in our fixed operating costs as percentage of net revenues our charges for excess and obsolete

inventory increased as percentage of net revenues for 2009 as compared to 2008 Although the absolute dollar value of these

charges was relatively unchanged they were not as fully absorbed due to the significant reduction in the level of our net revenues

The increases as percentage of net revenues in our fixed operating costs and our charges for excess and obsolete inventory were

partially offset by decrease in our component material costs as percentage of net revenues reflecting changes in product and

customer mix Our component material costs were 33% of net revenues during 2009 as compared to 36% of net revenues in 2008

Selling Expense Selling expense was $4.3 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $7.9 million for the same

period in 2008 decrease of $3.5 million or 45% The decrease in selling expense primarily reflects both reduction in salaries

and benefits expense reflecting the aforementioned restructuring initiatives we have implemented and lower levels of

commissions as result of the significant decline in net revenues experienced in 2009 as compared to 2008 To lesser extent

there was also reduction in travel costs advertising and trade show related expenditures and freight costs primarily reflecting

reduced attendance at trade shows and fewer sales personnel traveling during 2009 as compared to 2008

Engineering and Product Development Expense Engineering and product development expense was $2.4 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 compared to $5.1 million for the same period in 2008 decrease of $2.6 million or 52%.The decrease

in engineering and product development expense primarily reflects lower salaries and benefits
expense as result of the

aforementioned restructuring initiatives we have implemented To lesser extent there were also decreases in spending on

research and development materials legal fees related to our intellectual property and the use of third-party consultants during

2009 as compared to 2008 During 2008 we had higher level of ongoing development efforts related to new family of

manipulators which we introduced during the latter part of 2008

General andAdministrative Expense General and administrative expense was $5.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009

cOmpared to $8.1 million for the same period in 2008 decrease of $2.6 million or 33% This decrease was primarily result of

lower levels of salaries and benefits
expense reflecting the impact of our restructuring initiatives To lesser extent there was

also reduction in professional fees for third-party consultants who assist us with the documentation and testing of our internal

control over fmancial reporting procedures and related compliance matters and fees paid to our outside directors also reduced as

part of our restructuring initiatives
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Restructuring and Other Charges Restructuring and other charges were $663000 for the
year

ended December 31 2009

compared to $717000 for the same period in 2008 The charges incurred during 2009 and 2008 represented one-time termination

benefits and facility closure costs related to our various restructuring plans which are more fully discussed in Note to our

consolidated financial statements

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets During 2008 due to the significant operating losses experienced by our Mechanical Products

and Electrical Products segments combined with our forecasts that indicated potential future losses for these segments we

recorded charge of $1.4 million for the partial impairment of certain long-lived assets The impaired assets which are allocated

to our Electrical Products segment include property and equipment The impaired assets which are allocated to our Mechanical

Products segment include intangible assets which consist of the patent applications held by our Intestlogic subsidiary at the time

of our acquisition of this operation in 2002 customer list and non-compete agreement which resulted from our acquisition of

Diamond in July 2008 as well as certain property and equipment held by our Cheny Hill New Jersey manufacturing facility and

our Japanese sales and distribution operation There were no similar charges during 2009

Impairment of Goodwill During 2008 due to the significant operating losses experienced by our Mechanical Products segment

combined with our forecasts that indicated potential future losses for this segment we recorded charge of $130000 which

represented the full impairment of the goodwill that resulted from the acquisition of Diamond in July 2008 There were no similar

charges during 2009

Please refer to Note of the footnotes of our consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our annual goodwill

intangible and long-lived asset impairment review process as well as the charges that resulted from that process in 2008

Other Income Expense Other income was $151000 for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $360000 for the

comparable period in 2008 decrease of $209000 The decrease in other income is primarily result of reduction in interest

income as result of lower average cash balance during 2009.This decrease was partially offset by the recording of $184000

foreign exchange transaction gain related to the fmal dissolution of our subsidiary in Japan during the fourth quarter of 2009

Income Tax Expense Benefit For the year ended December 31 2009 we recorded an income tax benefit of $52000 compared

to income tax expense of $53000 for the same period in 2008 On quarterly basis we record income tax expense or benefit

based on the expected annualized effective tax rate for the various taxing jurisdictions in which we operate our businesses Due to

our history of operating losses in both our domestic and certain of our foreign operations we have recorded full valuation

allowance against the deferred tax assets of these operations including net operating loss carryforwards where we believe it is

more likely than not that we will not have sufficient taxable income to utilize these assets before they expire

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Net cash used in operations for the year ended December 31 2009 was $4.2 million compared to $2.9 million for the same period

in 2008 The increase in net cash used in operations reflects in part lower level of non-cash charges in 2009 as compared to 2008

as well as changes in working capital due to our improved operating results in the fourth quarter of 2009 compared to the fourth

quarter of 2008 and the closure of our Japanese subsidiary During 2009 accounts receivable increased $1.5 million reflecting the

significant increase in our net revenues in the fourth quarter of 2009 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2008 During 2009

other assets decreased $471000 primarily as result of the termination of several life insurance policies held by our Japanese

subsidiary The cash surrender value of these policies was included in these assets on our balance sheet These policies were

terminated in connection with the decision to close this operation as the policies served as the retirement assets for the employees

of this operation The amounts owed to our employees in Japan related to these policies were recorded as accrued wages and

benefits Accrued wages and benefits decreased $903000 during 2009 primarily reflecting the payment of the aforementioned

liabilities to our Japanese employees and to lesser extent lower headcount at December 31 2009 as compared to December 31

2008 The reduction in headcount reflects the various restructuring actions taken during 2009 as discussed in the Overview

Inventories decreased $1.1 million primarily reflecting the reduced levels of demand in 2009 which resulted in charges for excess

and obsolete inventory of $1.0 million being recorded during this period Accounts payable increased $748000 primarily as

result of the recent increases in the level of our orders
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Purchases of property and equipment were $86000 for the year ended December 31 2009 Currently we have no significant

commitments for capital expenditures for 2010 however depending upon changes in market demand we may make such

purchases as we deem necessary and appropriate We will be relocating the Mechanical Product segment operations and corporate

staff currently occupying our Cherry Hill New Jersey facility into smaller facility located in Mount Laurel New Jersey during

the fourth quarter of 2010 We are currently in the process of obtaining proposals for the various costs associated with this move

and do not yet have complete estimate of the total capital expenditures that we will incur to complete this move The landlord

for the new Mount Laurel facility will be providing the majority of the tenant improvement dollars for this facility which we will

amortize over the life of the lease as deferred rental expense

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31 2009 was $9000 which represents payments made under

capital lease obligations

We have secured credit facility that provides for maximum borrowings of $250000 We have not used this credit facility to

borrow any funds Our usage consists of the issuance of letters of credit in the face amount of $250000 This facility had been

secured by all the assets of inTEST Corporation Temptronic Corporation and inTEST Silicon Valley Corporation excluding all

patents trademarks and applications for same During the quarter ended September 30 2009 we agreed with the lender who

provides this secured credit facility to release their liens against the assets of our operations in exchange for pledged certificates of

deposit totaling $250000 The loan agreement for this facility contained certain negative covenants regarding among other

things acquisitions and additional debt In 2009 we had notified the lender that our 2008 acquisitions may have violated these

covenants and the lender has provided waivers of those covenant violations as well as eliminated those covenants going forward

We pay quarterly fee of 1.5% per annum on the total amount of the outstanding letters of credit

As of December 31 2009 we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.6 million At February 28 2010 we had cash and cash

equivalents of $3.4 million In light of deteriorating conditions in the semiconductor industry and the global economic recession

we initiated series of restructuring and cost reduction programs during the fourth quarter of 2008 which continued throughout

2009 as previously discussed in order to conserve cash and reduce costs In April 2009 we retained the services of fmancial

advisor to assist us in assessing our strategic alternatives to enhance operating performance and stockholder value We determined

that under the then current market conditions and with our then current resources our goals were to continue conserving cash

reducing costs and generating sales of our products Since that time we have implemented strategies consistent with those goals

and remain committed to those objectives We also continue to consider other alternatives as we may deem appropriate While

these strategies appear to have been effective in allowing us to reach our goals there can be no assurance that we will continue to

be successful in generating sufficient additional sales and conserving cash If we do not continue to generate additional sales or

conserve our cash position we will need to obtain financing to satisfy our working capital needs We are not certain that such

financing will be available on acceptable terms or at all if and when we need it

While we currently expect our cash and cash equivalents and projected future cash flow to be sufficient to support our near term

working capital requirements in light of the increased demand for our products and our current plans to restore salaries for our

domestic employees in early 2010 we may need additional working capital in 2010 Consequently in late October 2009 we

retained the services of third-party financial intermediary that specializes in debt placements for companies in distressed

situations to assist us in soliciting proposals from lenders to provide us with revolving line of credit of up to $2.0 million

secured by the assets of our domestic operations Late in the fourth quarter of 2009 we received lending proposals from several

institutions that were willing to consider providing committed working capital facility secured by the assets of our domestic

operations excluding the assets of Sigma which secure the notes payable to stockholders resulting from the acquisition of Sigma
In light of the increased bookings and revenues we experienced in the fourth quarter of 2009 and our belief that these

improvements would continue into 2010 as well as the reduction in the bum rate of our cash during the fourth quarter due to these

improved business results and our forecast that we would begin to build cash and cash equivalents in the second quarter of 2010

management chose to not incur the costs associated with moving forward with the lenders final due diligence related to putting

working capital facility in place as we did not believe the facility would be needed While we believe we could move forward

with putting committed working capital facility in place with any one of the lenders who provided proposals to us we cannot be

certain that the proposed lending terms would still be offered to us by the lenders or that the terms offered to us would be

satisfactory to us or that we would be successful in closing the working capital facility
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We have incurred significant losses in four of the last five years including losses in 2007 2008 and 2009 These losses were

attributable to operations as well as to charges for impairments and restructurings We have managed our liquidity during this

time primarily through series of cost reduction initiatives As previously discussed we presently see positive indicators in all of

our segments Our bookings for the fourth quarter of 2009 increased to $9.4 million as compared to $7.9 million for the third

quarter of the year and we currently expect that our orders in the first quarter of 2010 will be above the level we achieved in the

fourth quarter of 2009 In light of this we expect that we will be profitable on consolidated basis in the first quarter of 2010

However we cannot be certain that the downturn is reversing or that we will have sufficient cash to continue to operate

Consequently we continue to remain focused on methods to restructure our business and reduce our cash burn or to identif

appropriate strategic alternatives We do not currently have any available credit facilities under which we can borrow to help fund

our working capital requirements We cannot be certain that if needed we would be able to obtain any credit facilities or under

what terms such credit facilities would be available

New or Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

See Note to the consolidated financial statements for information concerning the implementation and impact of new or recently

adopted accounting standards

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires us to make estimates and judgments

that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities

On an on-going basis we evaluate our estimates including those related to inventories long-lived assets goodwill identifiable

intangibles deferred income tax valuation allowances and product warranty reserves We base our estimates on historical

experience and on appropriate and customary assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances the results of

which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from

other sources Some of these accounting estimates and assumptions are particularly sensitive because of their significance to our

consolidated financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from what

had been assumed when the financial statements were prepared

Inventory Valuation

Inventory is valued at standard cost which approximates actual cost computed on first-in first-out basis not in excess of market

value On quarterly basis we review our inventories and record excess and obsolete inventory charges based upon our

established objective excess and obsolete inventory criteria These criteria identif material that has not been used in work order

during the prior twelve months and the quantity of material on hand that is greater than the average annual usage of that material

over the prior three years In certain cases additional charges for excess and obsolete inventory are recorded based upon current

industry conditions anticipated product life cycles new product introductions and expected future use of the inventory The

charges for excess and obsolete inventory that we record establish new cost basis for the related inventory In 2009 we recorded

an inventory obsolescence charge for excess and obsolete inventory of $1.0 million

Long-Lived Asset Valuation

We assess the impairment of identifiable intangibles and long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying value may not be recoverable Factors we consider important which could indicate impairment include

significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results significant changes in the

manner of our use of the asset or the strategy for our overall business and significant negative industry or economic trends When

we determine that the canying value of intangibles and/or long-lived assets may not be recoverable based upon the existence of

one or more of the above indicators of impairment we prepare projections of operations for our product segments where these
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intangibles and/or long-lived assets are associated If the carrying value of the intangible assets and/or long-lived assets exceeds

the undiscounted cash flows of our projections then we would measure the impairment charge We measure the impairment

based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets At December 31 2009 identifiable intangibles and

long-lived assets were $1.5 million During 2009 we did not record any impairment charges related to our long-lived assets

Goodwill

At least annually we review our goodwill for impairment by comparing the fair value of our reporting units to their carrying

values If the result of this analysis is that the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value then the fair value of the

reporting unit is allocated to its identifiable tangible and intangible assets resulting in an implied valuation of goodwill associated

with the reporting unit We would measure the impairment based on the difference between the implied valuation of the goodwill

and its actual carrying value As of December 31 2009 goodwill was $1.7 million During 2009 we did not record any

impairment charges related to our goodwill

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets are analyzed to determine if there will be sufficient taxable income in the future in order to realize such assets

We assess all of the positive and negative evidence concerning the realizability of the deferred tax assets including our historical

results of operations for the recent past and our projections of future results of operations in which we make subjective

determinations of future events If after assessing all of the evidence both positive and negative determination is made that the

realizability of the deferred tax assets is not more likely than not we establish deferred tax valuation allowance for all or

portion of the deferred tax assets depending upon the specific facts If any of the significant assumptions were changed materially

different results could occur which could significantly change the amount of the deferred tax valuation allowance established As

of December 31 2009 due to our history of operating losses we have 100% valuation allowance against all deferred tax assets

including net operating loss carryforwards where we believe it is more likely than not that we will not have sufficient taxable

income to utilize these assets before they expire

Product Warranty Accrual

In connection with the accrual of warranty costs associated with our products we make assumptions about the level of product

failures that may occur in the future These assumptions are primarily based upon historical claims experience Should the rate of

future product failures significantly differ from historical levels our accrued warranty reserves would need to be adjusted and the

amount of the adjustment could be material At December 31 2009 accrued warranty was $228000 and we recorded charges

related to product warranty of $63000 for the
year

then ended

Off -Balance Sheet Arrangements

There were no off-balance sheet arrangements during the year ended December 31 2009 that have or are reasonably likely to

have current or future effect on our financial condition changes in financial condition revenues or expenses results of

operations liquidity capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to our interests

Item 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

This disclosure is not required for smaller reporting company

Item FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Consolidated financial statements are set forth in this Report beginning at page F-i and are incorporated by reference into this

Item
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None

Item 9AT CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

CEO and CFO Certifications Included with this Annual Report as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are two certifications one by each of

our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer the Section 302 Certifications This Item 9AT contains

information concerning the evaluations of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting that

are referred to in the Section 302 Certifications This information should be read in conjunction with the Section 302

Certifications for more complete understanding of the topics presented

Evaluation of Our Disclosure Controls and Procedures The SEC requires that as of the end of the year covered by this Report

our CEO and CFO must evaluate the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures and

report on the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures mean the controls and other procedures that are designed with the objective of ensuring that

information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act such as

this Report is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms promulgated

by the SEC Disclosure controls and procedures are also designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is

accumulated and communicated to our management including the CEO and CFO as appropriate to allow timely decisions

regarding required disclosure

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls Our management including the CEO and CFO does not expect that our

disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud control

system no matter how well conceived and operated can provide only reasonable as opposed to absolute assurance that the

objectives of the control system are met Further the design of control system must reflect the fact that there are resource

constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs Because of the inherent limitations in all control

systems no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud if any within an

entity have been detected These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and

that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake Additionally controls can be circumvented by the individual acts

of some persons by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the control The design of any system of

controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there can be no assurance that

any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions over time system of controls may

become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Because of the inherent limitations in cost-effective control system misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be

detected Accordingly our management has designed the disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that

the objectives of the control system were met

CEO/CFO Conclusions about the Effectiveness of the Disclosure Controls and Procedures As required by Rule 3a- 15b
inTEST management including our CEO and CFO conducted an evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Report of

the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures Based on that evaluation our CEO and CFO concluded that as of the

end of the period covered by this Report our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and

maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting Internal control over fmancial reporting is defined in Rule l3a-

5f and 5d- 5f under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as process designed by or under the supervision

of our principal executive and principal fmancial officers and effected by our board of directors management and other

personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and

procedures that
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Item 9AT CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES Continued

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of our assets

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts and expenditures are

being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of our assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Projections of

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes

in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 In making this

assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

COSO on Internal Control-Integrated Framework Based upon this assessment management believes that as of December 31
2009 our internal control over financial reporting is effective at reasonable assurance level

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal

control over fmancial reporting Managements report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public

accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only

managements report in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item 9B OTHER DffORMATION

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company was held on November 2009 the Meeting Notice of the Meeting was

mailed to stockholders of record on or about October 2009 together with proxy solicitation materials prepared in accordance

with Section 14a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and the regulations promulgated thereunder

In the election of the members of the Board of Directors there was no solicitation in opposition to the nominees of the Board of

Directors for election to the Board of Directors and all such nominees were elected The number of votes cast for or withheld for

each nominee for election to the Board of Directors were as follows

Nominee For Withheld

AlynR.Holt 7213564 1161996

Robert Matthiessen 7211064 1164496

Stuart Daniels Ph.D 7210785 1164775

James Greed Jr 7327882 677678

James Schwartz Esq 7698088 677472

Thomas Reilly Jr 7762907 612653

Item 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTWE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The text of Item 10 is omitted from this document The omitted information is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010

Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information may also be obtained from our website www.intest.com or the website of

the SEC www.sec.gov

Item 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The text of Item 11 is omitted from this document The omitted information is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010

Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information may also be obtained from our website www.intest.com or the website of

the SEC www.sec.gov
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PART III

Item 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The text of Item 12 is omitted from this document except for the portion that is responsive to Item 201d of Regulation S-K The

omitted information is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information may also

be obtained from our website www.intest.com or the website of the SEC www.sec.gov

The information required by Item 201d of Regulation S-K is set forth below The following table shows the number of securities

that may be issued pursuant to our equity compensation plans including individual compensation arrangements as of

December 31 2009

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities Number of securities

to be issued upon Weighted-average remaining available

exercise of exercise price of for future issuance

outstanding options outstanding options under equity

Plan Cate2ory warrants and rihtsl warrants and rihts1 compensation plans2

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 408000 $3.45 440000

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders

Total 408.000 440000

The securities that may be issued are shares of inTEST common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options

The securities that remain available for future issuance are issuable pursuant to the 2007 Stock Plan

Item 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The text of Item 13 is omitted from this document The omitted information is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010

Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information may also be obtained from our website www.intest.com or the website of

the SEC www.sec.gov

Item 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The text of Item 14 is omitted from this document The omitted information is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010

Annual Meeting of Stockholders This information may also be obtained from our website www.intest.com or the website of

the SEC www.sec.gov

PART IV

Item 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are

Our consolidated fmancial statements and notes thereto as well as the applicable report of our independent registered

public accounting firm are included in Part II Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

ii The following financial statement schedule should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements set

forth in Part II Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Schedule II -- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

iii The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are included under Item 15b of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

list of the Exhibits which are required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and filed with this Report is set forth in the Exhibit

Index immediately following the signature page which Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly caused this report

to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

inTEST Corporation

By Is Robert Matthiessen March 31 2010

Robert Matthiessen

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf

of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

/5/ Robert Matthiessen March 31 2010

Robert Matthiessen President

Chief Executive Officer and Director

principal executive officer

Is Hugh Regan Jr March 31 2010

Hugh Regan Jr Treasurer Chief

Financial Officer and Secretary

principal financial officer

Is Alyn Holt March 31 2010

Alyn Holt Executive Chairman

Is Stuart Daniels March 31 2010

Stuart Daniels Ph.D Director

Is James Greed Jr March 31 2010

James Greed Jr Director

Is James Schwartz Esg March 31 2010

James Schwartz Esq Director

Is Thomas Reilly Jr March 31 2010

Thomas Reilly Jr Director
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Index to ExhibitsA

Exhibit

Number Description ofExhibit

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 2008 by and among the Company Sigma Acquisitions Inc Sigma

Systems Corp Sandy Hoover Trustee of the Exemption Trust sub-trust of the Robert Stewart Separate Property

Trust dated March 17 2003 Sandy Hoover Trustee of the Sandy Hoover Trust sub-trust of the Robert Stewart

Separate Property Trust dated March 17 2003 and Sandy Hoover with Schedules and Exhibits thereto

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation

3.2 Bylaws as amended on October 30 2007

10.1 Lease Agreement between First Industrial L.P and the Company dated June 2000

10.2 First Amendment to Lease between First Industrial L.P and the Company dated October 2000

10.3 Second Amendment to Lease between First Industrial L.P and the Company dated December 23 2003

10.4 Third Amendment to Lease between Brown Pelican LLC indirect assignee of First Industrial L.P and the Company dated

as of July 16 2007

10.5 Lease between SPHOS Inc and Temptronic Corporation subsidiary of the Company dated December 27 2000

10.6 Lease between The Irvine Company and the Company dated September 15 2004

10.7 inTEST Corporation Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan

10.8 inTEST Corporation 2007 Stock Plan 10
10.9 Form of Restricted Stock Grant

10.10 Form of Stock Option Grant Director 11
10.11 Form of Stock Option Grant Officer

10.12 Change of Control Agreement dated August 27 2007 between the Company and Robert Matthiessen 12
10.13 Change of Control Agreement dated August 27 2007 between the Company and Hugh Regan Jr

10.14 Change of Control Agreement dated May 2008 between the Company and Daniel Graham 13
10.15 Change of Control Agreement dated May 2008 between the Company and James Peirin 13
10.16 Change of Control Agreement dated May 2008 between the Company and Dale Christman former General Manager-

Electrical Products Segment 13
10.17 Amendment to Change of Control Agreement dated December 31 2008 between the Company and Robert Matthiessen

14
10.18 Amendment to Change of Control Agreement dated December 31 2008 between the Company and Hugh Regan Jr

14
10.19 Amendment to Change of Control Agreement dated December 31 2008 between the Company and Daniel Graham

14
10.20 Amendment to Change of Control Agreement dated December 31 2008 between the Company and James Peirin 14
10.21 Security Agreement dated October 2008 between SigmaSYS Corp Sandy Hoover Trustee of Exemption Trust sub-

trust of the Robert Stewart Separate Property Trust dated March 17 2003 Sandy Hoover Trustee of the Sandy

Hoover Trust sub-trust of the Robert Stewart Separate Property Trust dated March 17 2003 and Sandy Hoover

15
10.22 Promissory Note dated October 2008 between the Company and Sandy Hoover Trustee of the Exemption Trust

sub-trust of the Robert Stewart Separate Property Trust dated March 17 2003 15
10.23 Promissory Note dated October 2008 between the Company and Sandy Hoover Trustee of the Sandy Hoover

Trust sub-trust of the Robert Stewart Separate Property Trust dated March 17 2003 15
10.24 Compensatory Arrangements of Executive Officers and Directors

14 Code of Ethics 16
21 Subsidiaries of the Company

23 Consent of McGladrey Pullen LLP

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

38



Index to ExhibitsA

Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 8-K dated October 2008 File No 000-22529 filed October 10

2008 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i File No 333-26457 filed May
1997 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 8-K dated October 30 2007 File No 000-22529 filed November

2007 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form lO-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2000 File No 000-22529

filed August 14 2000 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 10-K/A for the year ended December31 2006 File No 000-

22529 filed on July 27 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 8-K dated October 2007 File No 000-22529 filed October

2007 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2000 File No 000-22529

filed March 30 2001 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 8-K dated September 15 2004 File No 000-22529 filed October

2004 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed as an appendix to the Companys Proxy Statement filed April 25 2002 and incorporated herein by reference

10 Previously filed as an appendix to the Companys Proxy Statement filed April 27 2007 and incorporated herein by reference

11 Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2004 File No 000-22529

filed March 31 2005 and incorporated herein by reference

12 Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December31 2007 File No 000-22529

filed March 31 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

13 Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form lO-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2008 File No 000-22529

filed August 14 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

14 Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2009 File No 000-22529

filed August 14 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

15 Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December31 2008 File No 000-22529
filed July 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

16 Previously filed by the Company as an exhibit to the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2003 File No 000-22529
filed March 30 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan contract or arrangement in which director or executive officers participate

Copies of the exhibits which were filed with the SEC are not included in this Annual Report to Stockholders but may be obtained

electronically through our website at www.intest.com or through the SECs website at www.sec.gov
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

MCGLADREY PULLEN LLP

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders

inTEST Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of inTEST Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31 2009 and

2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations comprehensive loss stockholders equity and cash flows for the years then

ended Our audits also included the financial statement schedule of inTEST Corporation listed in Item 15a These fmancial

statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmancial statements are free of

material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial position of

inTEST Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for

the years then ended in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related consolidated

financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents

fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We were not engaged to examine managements assessment of the effectiveness of inTEST Corporations internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009 included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting and accordingly we do not express an opinion thereon

Is McGLADREY PULLEN LLP

Blue Bell Pennsylvania

March 31 2010
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inTEST CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE ShEETS

In thousands except share data

December 31
2009 2008

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
2647 7137

Trade accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

$154 and $148 respectively
5413 3758

Inventories 3064 4193

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 377 816

Total current assets 11501 15904

Property and equipment

Machinery and equipment 3377 3869

Leasehold improvements
533 576

3910 4445

Less accumulated depreciation 3.613 3.828

Net property and equipment 297 617

Goodwill 1656 1656

Intangible assets net 1212 1346

Other assets
478 969

Total assets $15144 $20492

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable
2576 1830

Accrued wages and benefits 653 1569

Accrued professional fees 375 391

Accrued warranty
228 281

Accrued sales commissions 315 160

Accrued restructuring and other charges
130 141

Other accrued
expenses

455 553

Domestic and foreign income taxes payable
18 173

Notes payable to stockholder 381

Deferredrent 118 118

Capital lease obligations

Total current liabilities 5249 5.224

Notes payable to stockholder net of current portion 1144 1525

Deferred rent net of current portion
157 275

Capital lease obligations net of current portion

Total liabilities 6550 7025

Commitments and Contingencies Notes 11 12 14 and 17

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $0.01 par value 5000000 shares authorized

no shares issued or outstanding

Common stock $0.01 par value 20000000 shares authorized

10193255 and 10209005 shares issued respectively
102 102

Additional paid-in capital 25798 25665

Accumulated deficit 17801 12958

Accumulated other comprehensive earnings 1356 1519

Treasury stock at cost 139299 and 139299 shares respectively 861 861
Total stockholders equity

8.5 94 13467

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $15144 $20492

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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InTEST CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In thousands except share and
per share data

Years Eaded December 31
2009 2008

Net revenues $23499 $38790
Cost of revenues 15686 25005

Gross margin 7.813 13785

Operating expenses

Selling expense 4333 7875

Engineering and product development expense 2418 5064
General and administrative expense 5445 8062
Impairment of long-lived assets 1377

Impairment of goodwill 130

Restructuring and other charges 663 717

Total operating expenses 12859 23225

Operating loss 5046 9440

Other income expense
Interest income 44 297

Interest expense 72 21
Other 179 84

Total other income 151 360

Loss before income tax expense benefit 4895 9080
Income tax expense benefit 52 53

Net loss S4.843 $9.133

Net loss per common share

Basic $0.49 $0.97
Diluted $0.49 $0.97

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic 9975266 9465006
Diluted 9975266 9465006

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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InTEST CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

In thousands

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008

Net loss $4843 $9133

Transfer of cumulative translation adjustment upon

dissolution of foreign subsidiary 184

Foreign currency translation adjustments
21 180

Comprehensive loss $5.OpfJ S8953

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-4
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InTEST CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands

Years Ended December 31
2009 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERAT1NG ACTIVITIES

Net loss 54843 59133
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 501 1073

Impairment of goodwill 130

Impairment of long-lived assets 1377

Foreign exchange gain loss 63 148

Amortization of deferred compensation related to restricted stock 133 418

Loss on sale of fixed assets 36 47

Proceeds from sale of demonstration equipment net of gain

Changes in assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable 1544 3228

Inventories 1130 1170

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 430 407

Other assets 471 43
Accounts payable 748 822
Accrued wages and benefits 903 471
Accrued professional fees 17 79

Accrued warranty 53 106
Accrued sales commissions 155 239
Accrued restructuring and other charges 11 145

Other accrued expenses 96 185
Domestic and foreign income taxes payable 154 46
Deferredrent 118 118

Net cash used in operating activities 4.192 2.934

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of businesses 1764
Purchase of property and equipment 86 400

Net cash used in investing activities 86 2164

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of capital lease obligations

Net cash used in financing activities

Effects of exchange rates on cash 203 26

Net cash used in all activities 4490 5078
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 7.137 12215

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2647 7.137

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Details of acquisitions

Fair value of assets acquired 2959

Liabilities assumed 961
Common stock issued 495
Debt issued 1525
Goodwill resulting from acquisitions 1.786

Net cash paid for acquisitions 1.764

Forfeiture of non-vested shares of restricted stock 64 32

Cash payments refhnds for

Domestic and foreign income taxes 130 172
Interest 74

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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inTEST CORPORATION
NOTES TO.CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In thousands except share and
per

share data

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

We are an independent designer manufacturer and marketer of mechanical thermal and electrical products that are primarily used

by semiconductor manufacturers in conjunction with automatic test equipment ATE in the testing of integrated circuits ICs
or semiconductors

The consolidated entity is comprised of inTEST Corporation parent and our wholly-owned subsidiaries We have three

reportable segments which are also our reporting units Mechanical Products Thermal Products and Electrical Products We
manufacture our products in the U.S Marketing and support activities are conducted worldwide from our facilities in the U.S
Germany and Singapore

During 2008 we acquired Diamond Integration L.L.C Diamond and Sigma Systems Corp Sigma as discussed further in

Note The results of Diamond from the date of acquisition are included in our Mechanical Products segment The results of

Sigma from the date of acquisition are included in our Thermal Products segment

During the fourth quarter of 2008 we closed our manufacturing facility in Amerang Germany and our engineering and sales

office in the U.K On April 14 2009 we approved reductions in workforce in our Singaporean operation In connection with this

action we centralized manufacturing of mechanical products in our Cherry Hill New Jersey operation During the fourth quarter

of 2009 we closed our Japanese operation Sales of our mechanical products that had been handled through this operation are

now handled through our operation in Cherry Hill New Jersey All of these operations were included in our Mechanical Products

segment In addition during the third quarter of 2009 we approved the relocation of Sigma to Sharon Massachusetts Sigma will

share facility with Temptronic Corporation These two companies along with an operation in Germany comprise our Thermal

Products segment The relocation of Sigma commenced in mid-December and was completed during the first quarter of 2010 All

of these actions including the costs associated with them are discussed further in Note

The semiconductor industry in which we operate is characterized by rapid technological change competitive pricing pressures

and cyclical market patterns This industry is subject to significant economic downturns at various times Our financial results are

affected by wide variety of factors including but not limited to general economic conditions worldwide or in the markets in

which we operate economic conditions specific to the semiconductor industry our ability to safeguard patents and intellectual

property in rapidly evolving market downward pricing pressures from customers and our reliance on relatively few number

of customers for significant portion of our sales In addition we are exposed to the risk of obsolescence of our inventory

depending on the mix of future business and technological changes within the industry As result of these or other factors we

may experience significant period-to-period fluctuations in future operating results

Results of Operations and Managements Plans

We have incurred significant losses in four of the last five years including losses in 2007 2008 and 2009 These losses were

attributable to operations as well as to charges for impairments and restructurings We have managed our liquidity during this

time primarily through series of cost reduction initiatives The weakness and turmoil of the macroeconomic environment that

began in 2008 and worsened in 2009 resulted in significant reduction in equipment utilization rates in the semiconductor

industry While we presently see positive indicators in all of our segments and although we have experienced sequential quarterly

growth in our bookings during 2009 we continue to remain focused on methods to reduce our cash bum and manage our cash

flow As result of our continued operating losses in 2009 primarily incurred during the first half of the year combined with the

cash utilized to implement the various restructuring plans put in place during 2009 our cash and cash equivalents declined to

$2647 as of December 31 2009 compared to $7137 as of December 31 2008 We do not currently have any available credit

facilities under which we can borrow to help fund our working capital requirements
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NATURE OF OPERATIONS Continued

In light of deteriorating conditions in the semiconductor industry and the global economy during 2008 and the first part of 2009

we initiated series of restructuring and cost reduction programs during the fourth quarter of 2008 which continued in 2009 in

order to conserve cash and reduce costs as more fully discussed in Note In addition in April 2009 we retained financial

advisor to explore strategic altematives to enhance operating performance and stockholder value We determined that under the

then current market conditions and with our then current resources our goals were to continue conserving cash reducing costs

and generating sales of our products Since that time we have implemented strategies consistent with those goals and remain

conunitted to those objectives We also continue to consider other altematives as we may deem appropriate We will likely incur

additional restructuring charges in future periods however we cannot predict the amount of such charges at this time

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our wholly-owned subsidiaries All

significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation The preparation of financial

statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the fmancial statements and the reportedamounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period

Actual results could differ from those estimates Certain of our accounts including inventories long-lived assets goodwill

identifiable intangibles deferred income tax valuation allowances and product warranty reserves are particularly impacted by

estimates

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to be comparable with the current years presentation

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Short-term investments that have maturities of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents and are

carried at cost which approximates market value

Trade Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest We grant credit to customers and

generally require no collateral To minimize our risk we perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers financial condition

The allowance for doubtful accounts is our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in our existing accounts

receivable We determine the allowance based on historical write-off experience and the aging of such receivables among other

factors Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the

potential for recovery is considered remote We do not have any off-balance sheet credit
exposure

related to our customers Bad

debt expense was $45 and $61 for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively Cash flows from accounts

receivable are recorded in operating cash flows

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments principally accounts and notes receivable and accounts payable are carried at cost which approximates

fair value due to the short maturities of the accounts The estimated fair value of our notes payable to stockholder approximates

its carrying value based upon the rates offered to us for similar type arrangements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Inventories

Inventory is valued at standard cost which approximates actual cost computed on first-in first-out basis not in excess of market

value Cash flows from the sale of inventory are recorded in operating cash flows On quarterly basis we review our inventories

and record excess and obsolete inventory charges based upon our established objective excess and obsolete inventory criteria

These criteria identify material that has not been used in work order during the prior twelve months and the quantity of material

on hand that is greater than the average annual usage of that material over the prior three years In certain cases additional excess

and obsolete inventory charges are recorded based upon current industry conditions anticipated product life cycles new product

introductions and expected future use of the inventory The charges for excess and obsolete inventory we record establish new
cost basis for the related inventory We incurred excess and obsolete inventory charges of $1023 and $1033 for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Property and Equipment

Machinery and equipment are stated at cost As further discussed below under Goodwill Intangible and Long-Lived Assets

machinery and equipment that has been determined to be impaired is written down to its fair value at the time of the impairment

Depreciation is based upon the estimated useful life of the assets using the straight-line method The estimated useful lives range

from one to seven years Leasehold improvements are recorded at cost and amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the

estimated useful life of the asset Total depreciation expense including amortization of assets acquired under capital leases was

$366 and $964 for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are

charged to operations as incurred

Goodwill IntanLible and Lone-Lived Assets

Goodwill is assessed for impairment at least annually in the fourth quarter on reporting unit basis or more frequently when

events and circumstances occur indicating that the recorded goodwill may be impaired The goodwill impairment assessment is

based upon combination of the income approach which estimates the fair value of our reporting units based upon discounted

cash flow approach and the market approach which estimates the fair value of our reporting units based upon comparable market

multiples This fair value is then reconciled to our market capitalization at year
end with an appropriate control premium The

determination of the fair value of our reporting units requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions

including the selection of appropriate peer group companies control premiums discount rate terminal growth rates forecasts of

revenue and expense growth rates changes in working capital depreciation amortization and capital expenditures Changes in

assumptions concerning future financial results or other underlying assumptions would have significant impact on either the fair

value of the reporting unit or the amount of the goodwill impairment charge

During the goodwill impairment assessment we perform step test to identify potential impairment in which the fair value of

reporting unit is compared with its book value If the book value of reporting unit exceeds its fair value step II test is

performed in which the implied fair value of goodwill is compared with the carrying amount of goodwill If the carrying amount

of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value an impairment loss is recorded in an amount equal to that excess Indefinite-lived

intangible assets are assessed for impairment at least annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired The impairment test consists of comparison of the fair value of an

intangible asset with its carrying amount If the carrying amount of an intangible asset exceeds its fair value an impairment loss is

recognized in an amount equal to that excess

Long-lived assets which consist of finite-lived intangible assets and property and equipment are assessed for impairment

whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable

or that the useful lives of these assets are no longer appropriate Each impairment test is based on comparison of the estimated

undiscounted cash flows to the recorded value of the asset If impairment is indicated the asset is written down to its estimated

fair value The cash flow estimates used to determine the impairment if any contain managements best estimates using

appropriate assumptions and projections at that time
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTI1G POLICIES Continued

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 718

Compensation Stock Compensation which requires that employee share-based equity awards be accounted for under the fair

value method and requires the use of an option pricing model for estimating fair value which is then amortized to expense over

the service periods See further disclosures related to our stock-based compensation plan in Note 16

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists delivery has occurred or services have been rendered

the price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured Sales of our products are made through our sales

employees third-party sales representatives and distributors There are no differences in revenue recognition policies based on the

sales channel We do not provide our customers with rights of return or exchanges Revenue is generally recognized upon product

shipment Our customers purchase orders do not typically contain any customer-specific acceptance criteria other than that the

product performs within the agreed upon specifications We test all products manufactured as part of our quality assurance

process
to determine that they comply with specifications prior to shipment to customer To the extent that any customer

purchase order contains customer-specific acceptance criteria revenue recognition is deferred until customer acceptance

With respect to sales tax collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities we use net presentation in our

consolidated statement of operations As result there are no amounts included in either our net revenues or cost of revenues

related to sales tax

Product Warranties

We generally provide product warranties and record estimated warranty expense
at the time of sale based upon historical claims

experience Warranty expense is included in selling expense
in the consolidated financial statements

Engineering and Product Development

Engineering and product development costs which consist primarily of the salary and related benefits costs of our technical staff

as well as the cost of materials used in product development are expensed as incurred

Restructuring and Other Charges

We recognize liability for restructuring costs at fair value only when the liability is incurred The three main components of our

restructuring plans have been related to workforce reductions the consolidation of excess facilities and asset impairments

Workforce-related charges are accrued when it is determined that liability has been incurred which is generally after individuals

have been notified of their termination dates and expected severance benefits Plans to consolidate excess facilities result in

charges for lease termination fees and future commitments to pay lease charges net of estimated future sub-lease income We

recognize these charges when we have vacated the premises In addition as result of plans to consolidate excess facilities we

may incur other associated costs such as charges to relocate inventory equipment or personnel We recognize charges for other

associated costs when these costs are incurred which is generally when the goods or services have been provided to us Assets

that may be impaired consist of property plant and equipment and intangible assets Asset impairment charges are based on an

estimate of the amounts and timing of future cash flows related to the expected future remaining use and ultimate sale or disposal

of the asset

Foreign Currency

For our foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S dollar assets and liabilities are translated using the

exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date The results of operations are translated using an average exchange rate for the

period The effects of rate fluctuations in translating assets and liabilities of these international operations into U.S dollars are

included in accumulated other comprehensive earnings loss in stockholders equity Transaction gains or losses are included in

net earnings loss For the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 foreign currency
transaction gains losses were $63 and

$148 The amount recorded in 2009 includes $184 foreign currency
translation adjustment related to the final dissolution of

our subsidiary located in Japan as more fully discussed in Note
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Income Taxes

The asset and liability method is used in accounting for income taxes Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between

the fmancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary

differences are expected to be recovered or settled The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of change in tax rates is

recognized in the results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date valuation allowance is recorded to reduce

the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized

Net Earnings Loss Per Common Share

Net earnings loss per common share basic is computed by dividing net earnings loss by the weighted average number of

common shares outstanding during each period Net earnings loss per common share diluted is computed by dividing net

earnings loss by the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding during each

period Common share equivalents represent stock options and unvested shares of restricted stock and are calculated using the

treasury stock method Common share equivalents are excluded from the calculation if their effect is anti-dilutive

The table below sets forth for the periods indicated reconciliation of weighted average common shares outstanding basic to

weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding diluted and the average number of potentially

dilutive securities and their respective weighted average exercise prices that were excluded from the calculation of diluted

earnings per share because their effect was anti-dilutive

Years Ended December 31
2009 2008

Weighted average common shares outstanding basic 9975266 9465006
Potentially dilutive securities

Employee stock options and unvested shares of restricted stock

Weighted average common shares outstanding diluted 9.975.266 9465.006

Average number of potentially dilutive securities excluded from calculation 497469 639762

Weighted average exercise price of excluded securities $3.57 $3.74

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In June 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

SFAS No 168 The FASB Accounting Standards Cod jjIcation and the Hierarchy of Generally AcceptedAccounting

Principles replacement of FASB Statement No 162 SFAS No 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards Codification

ASC as the source of authoritative U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP recognized by the FASB to be

applied by nongovernmental entities SFAS No 168 is codified as ASC Topic 105 Rules and interpretive releases of the

Securities and Exchange Commission SEC under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP
for SEC registrants All guidance contained in the ASC carries an equal level of authority On the effective date of SFAS No 168
the ASC superseded all then-existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards All other non-grandfathered non-SEC

accounting literature not included in the ASC became non-authoritative SFAS No 168 was effective for financial statements

issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15 2009 Subsequent to the effective date of SFAS No 168 the

FASB no longer issues new standards in the form of Statements FASB Staff Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts

Instead the FASB issues Accounting Standards Updates ASU The FASB does not consider Accounting Standards Updates as

authoritative in their own right Accounting Standards Updates serve only to update the ASC provide background information

about the guidance and provide the bases for conclusions on the changes in the ASC We adopted SFAS No 168 as of the end
of the third fiscal quarter of 2009 The adoption of FAS No 168 did not have any impact on our consolidated financial statements

however it changes our footnote referencing related to the sources for existing GAAP and recently issued modifications of

GAAP

F-il



inTEST CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In thousands except share and
per

share data

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

ASC Topic 855 Subsequent Events ASC 855 formerly SFAS No 165 Subsequent Events establishes general standards for

the evaluation recognition and disclosure of events and transactions that occur after the balance sheet date Although there is new

terminology the standard is based on the same principles as those that currently exist in the auditing standards The standard

which includes new required disclosure of the date through which management has evaluated subsequent events is effective for

interim and annual periods ending after June 15 2009 The adoption of ASC 855 had no effect on our fmancial statements In

February 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-09 Subsequent Events Topic 855 Amendments to Certain Recognition and

Disclosure Requirements ASU 20 10-09 which amends ASC Topic 855 to clarif which entities are required to evaluate

subsequent events through the date the fmancial statements are issued and the scope
of the disclosure requirements related to

subsequent events ASU 20 10-09 is effective for us on prospective basis immediately The adoption of ASU 20 10-09 did not

have any impact on our consolidated fmancial statements We have determined there were no material subsequent events

requiring adjustment to or disclosure in our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2009

ASC Topic 805 formerly SFAS No 141 Business Combinations significantly changes the accounting for business

combinations in number of areas including the treatment of contingent consideration pre-acquisition contingencies transaction

costs in-process research and development and restructuring costs In April 2009 the FASB issued additional standards under

ASC Topic 805 to address application issues raised by preparers auditors and members of the legal profession on initial

recognition and measurement subsequent measurement and accounting and disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from

contingencies in business combination These new standards are effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year beginning

after December 15 2008 and early adoption is prohibited We adopted these new standards under ASC Topic 805 as of January

2009 The adoption of these standards will change our accounting for business combinations on prospective basis for any

business combination completed on or after January 2009

ASC Topic 350 formerly FSP FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful Lfe of Intangible Assets amends the factors that should

be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of recognized intangible asset

and also adds certain disclosure requirements This new standard is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year beginning

after December 15 2008 and early adoption is prohibited The guidance for determining useful lives must be applied

prospectively to intangible assets acquired after the effective date The disclosure requirements must be applied prospectively to

all intangible assets recognized as of the effective date We adopted this new standard as of January 2009 The adoption of this

new standard will change our accounting for intangible assets acquired after the adoption date

New Accounting Standards

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic 820 Improving

Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ASU 20 10-06 which amends the disclosure guidance with respect to fair value

measurements Specifically the new guidance requires disclosure of amounts transferred in and out of Levels and fair value

measurements reconciliation presented on gross basis rather than net basis of activity in Level fair value measurements

greater disaggregation of the assets and liabilities for which fair value measurements are presented and more robust disclosure of

the valuation techniques and inputs used to measure Level and fair value measurements ASU 2010-06 is effective for interim

and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2009 with the exception of the new guidance around the Level

activity reconciliations which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2010 We are currently evaluating the

impacts if any on our consolidated financial statements

ACQUISITIONS

Diamond Integration L.L

On July 15 2008 we acquired the assets of Diamond Integration L.L.C Diamond business that provides post-warranty

service for ATE equipment to semiconductor manufacturers The purchase price consisted of cash payment of $239 plus

transaction costs of $23 The following is an allocation of the purchase price
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ACQUISITIONS Continued

Cash payment $239

Transaction costs 23

262

Estimated fair value of identifiable assets acquired

Goodwill established

The estimated fair value of identifiable assets acquired included two finite-lived intangibles customer list which was

determined to have fair value of $52 and an estimated useful life of 24 months and non-compete agreement which was

determined to have fair value of $43 and an estimated useful life of 30 months In addition to the finite-lived intangible assets

acquired we acquired fixed assets with estimated fair values totaling $36 and security deposit with fair value of $1

The results of Diamond have been included in our Mechanical Products segment from the date of acquisition See Note for

discussion of the impairment of Diamond goodwill and intangible assets as of December 31 2008 The effects on the
pro forma

consolidated results of operations inclusive of the acquisition of Diamond are not material

Sigma Systems Corp

On October 2008 we entered into and consummated an Agreement and Plan of Merger the Merger Agreement with Sigma

Systems Corp Sigma its President Sandy Hoover and its stockholders pursuant to which all of the outstanding shares of

Sigma were exchanged for $1000 in cash 550000 shares of our conmion stock and non-negotiable promissory notes in an

aggregate principal amount of $1525 The notes bear interest at the prime rate plus 1.25% are secured by the assets of Sigma
Interest is payable annually on the anniversary of closing Principal is payable in four equal installments beginning on October

2010 See additional disclosures related to the promissory notes in Note During the closing of the transaction we repaid $303

of debt that was on the books of Sigma prior to the acquisition of which $118 was working capital loan that had been provided

to Sigma by the selling stockholders

Sigma is leading manufacturer of thermal platforms custom configured environmental chambers and other environmental test

solutions for variety of industries including automotive medical/pharmaceutical electronic aerospace/defense and

semiconductor The results of Sigma have been included in our Thermal Products segment from the date of acquisition The

following is an allocation of the purchase price

Cash payment $1000
Non-negotiable promissory notes issued 1525

550000 common shares at $0.90 per share 495

Debt repaid 303

Transaction costs 226

3549
Estimated fair value of identifiable assets acquired net of liabilities assumed 1893

Goodwill established $1 .656

The estimated fair value of identifiable assets net of liabilities assumed shown above includes $1380 which represents

intangible assets These intangible assets include customer relationships valued at $370 which are being amortized over an

estimated useful life of 72 months software valued at $270 which is being amortized over an estimated useful life of 120 months

patents valued at $230 which are being amortized over and estimated useful life of 60 months and trademarks valued at $510

which have an indefinite life
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ACQUISITIONS Continued

The unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations as if the acquisition of Sigma had occurred on January 2008 after

giving effect to non-recurring charges are as follows

Pro Forma 2008

Net revenues $15364

Netloss $9031
Diluted loss per share $0.90

GOODWILL INTANGIBLE AND LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Goodwill and Indefinite Life Intangible Assets

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 our goodwill totaled $1656 and our indefinite life intangible assets totaled $510 Changes in

the amount of the canying value of goodwill for the years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 are as follows

Mechanical Products Thermal Products Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Balance Beginning of period $1656 $1656

Acquisition of Diamond Integration L.L.C 130 130

Acquisition of Sigma Systems Corp 1656 1656

Impairment of goodwill 130 130
Balance-End ofperiod

$1.656 $1656 $1656 $1656

Changes in the amount of the carrying value of indefinite life intangible assets all of which are allocated to our Thermal Products

segment for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 are as follows

2009 2008

Balance Beginning of period $510

Acquisition of Sigma Systems Corp __
Balance End of period $5JJL $510

Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite Life Intangible Assets

During December 2009 and 2008 we assessed our goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets for impairment in accordance

with the requirements of ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other Our goodwill impairment assessment is based upon

combination of the income approach which estimates the fair value of our reporting units based upon discounted cash flow

approach and the market approach which estimates the fair value of our reporting units based upon comparable market multiples

This fair value is then reconciled to our market capitalization at year
end with an appropriate control premium In both 2009 and

2008 we used 16% discount rate for the discounted cash flows based upon our analysis of market based estimates of capital

costs and discount rates The
peer companies used in the market approach operate in our market segment The determination of

the fair value of our reporting units requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions including the selection of

appropriate peer group companies control premiums discount rate terminal growth rates forecasts of revenue and expense

growth rates changes in working capital depreciation amortization and capital expenditures Changes in assumptions concerning

future financial results or other underlying assumptions would have significant impact on either the fair value of the reporting

unit or the amount of the goodwill impairment charge

During the goodwill impairment assessment we performed step test to identify potential impairment in which the fair value of

reporting unit was compared with its book value If the book value of reporting unit exceeded its fair value step II test was

performed in which the implied fair value of goodwill was compared with the carrying amount of goodwill If the carrying

amount of goodwill exceeded the implied fair value an impairment loss was recorded in an amount equal to that excess
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GOODWILL INTANGIBLE AND LONG-LIVED ASSETS Continued

During the indefinite life intangible asset impairment assessment we compared the fair value of our intangible assets with their

carrying amount If the carrying amount of our intangible assets exceeded their fair value an impairment loss was recognized in

an amount equal to that excess

Sigma Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In December 2009 and 2008 we completed our annual impairment assessments for the goodwill and indefinite life intangible

assets that are allocated to our Thermal Products reporting unit This goodwill and the indefinite life intangible asset are both

result of our acquisition of Sigma in October 2008 as discussed in Note This assessment indicated no impairment existed as the

fair value of this reporting unit was determined to exceed its carrying value by 14% or $769 at December 31 2009 and by 22% or

$1804 at December 31 2008

Diamond Goodwill

In December 2008 we completed our annual impairment assessment for the goodwill that was allocated to our Mechanical

Products reporting unit This goodwill resulted from our acquisition of Diamond in July 2008 as discussed in Note Due to the

significant operating losses experienced by our Mechanical Products reporting unit during 2008 combined with our forecasts that

indicated potential future losses for this reporting unit we determined that the fair value of this reporting unit was less than its

carrying value We determined that the carrying value of goodwill allocated to this reporting unit exceeded the implied fair value

of goodwill and therefore our goodwill allocated to this reporting unit was fully impaired As result of this impairment we
recorded charge of $130

Finite-lived Intangible Assets

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we had finite-lived intangible assets which totaled $701 and $836 respectively net of

accumulated amortization of $169 and $34 respectively At December 31 2009 and 2008 we had three finite-lived intangible

assets which consisted of customer relationships software and patents held by Sigma at the time of our acquisition of this

operation in October 2008 as discussed further in Note These intangible assets are being amortized on straight-line basis over

estimated useful lives of 72 months 120 months and 60 months respectively As of December 31 2009 these assets had

remaining estimated useful lives of 57 months 105 months and 45 months respectively These intangible assets are allocated to

our Thermal Products segment We assess our finite-lived intangible assets for impairment in accordance with the requirements of

ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other Please see Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Finite-Lived Intangible

Assets below for the results of our assessment

The following table sets forth changes in the amount of the carrying value of finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Mechanical Products Thermal Products Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Balance Beginning of period $273 $836 $836 $273

Acquisition of Diamond Integration L.L.C 95 95

Acquisition of Sigma Systems Corp 870 870

Amortization 75 135 34 135 109
Impact of foreign currency translation

Impairment of finite-lived intangible assets j4 j$4
Balance End of period $101 $$36 $iQt $$36
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GOODWILL INTANGIBLE AND LONG-LIVED ASSETS Continued

The following table sets forth the estimated annual amortization expense for our finite-lived intangible assets for each of the next

five years

2010 $135

2011 $135

2012 $135

2013 $123

2014 73

Impairment of LonM-Lived Asset and Finite-lived IntanLible Assets

In accordance with ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other and ASC Topic 360 Property Plant and Equipment we

review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount

of the assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets are no longer appropriate Each impairment test is

based on comparison of the estimated undiscounted cash flows to the recorded value of the asset If impairment is indicated the

asset is written down to its estimated fair value The cash flow estimates used to determine the impairment if any contain

managements best estimates using appropriate assumptions and projections at that time As previously noted our long-lived

assets consist of our finite-lived intangible assets and property and equipment

2009 Assessments

During December 2009 due to the continued operating losses experienced during 2009 in all of our segments we assessed the

long-lived assets of all our segments for impairment Our assessment indicated that the finite-lived intangible assets and property

and equipment that are allocated to these segments were not impaired

2008 Assessments

During December 2008 due to the significant operating losses experienced during 2008 combined with our forecasts that

indicated potential future losses for our Mechanical Products and Electrical Products segments we assessed the long-lived assets

allocated to these segments for impairment Our assessment indicated that the finite-lived intangible assets and certain property

and equipment that are allocated to these segments were impaired The impaired assets which were allocated to our Electrical

Products segment included property and equipment The impaired assets which were allocated to our Mechanical Products

segment included the intangible asset which consisted of the patent applications held by our Intestlogic subsidiary two intangible

assets consisting of customer list and non-compete agreement which resulted from our acquisition of Diamond in July 2008 as

discussed further in Note and certain property and equipment held by our Cherry Hill New Jersey manufacturing facility and

our Japanese sales and distribution operation The impairment charge of $1244 which was recorded in December 2008 included

$284 related to our finite-lived intangible assets and $960 related to our property and equipment

In addition to the impairment charge recorded in December 2008 we also recorded an impairment charge of $133 in the third

quarter of 2008 related to the property and equipment of our Intestlogic subsidiary which we announced in September 2008 we

were going to close See further discussion of the closure of this operation in Note This operation was closed during the fourth

quarter of 2008 and was included in our Mechanical Products segment

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES

In response to the significant decline in our orders and net revenues during 2008 and 2009 we have taken actions to reduce our

cost structure The actions we have taken are described below The review of our operations is on-going We continue to explore

methods to further reduce our costs and we will likely incur additional restructuring charges in future periods however we

cannot predict the amount of such charges at this time

We consider some of the actions we have taken to be temporary
in nature For instance in future periods we may choose to

restore all or portion of the salary and benefits we have reduced or hire additional staff as we deem necessary and appropriate

Any such restoration or increase in staffing would impact the ultimate level of savings which will result from our restructuring

actions See further information on such restorations in Note 20
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RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES Continued

2009 Restructuring Actions

Thermal Products Segment

During 2009 we approved three separate workforce reductions in our Thermal Products segment On January 15 2009 we

approved reduction of employees representing approximately 6% of the total employees in this segment and on February 19
2009 we approved reduction in workforce of employees representing approximately 8% of the total employees in this

segment collectively the Qi 2009 TP Workforce Reduction We completed the communications of these actions to our

employees on January 22 2009 and February 19 2009 respectively We incurred $60 in total costs related to these actions for

one-time termination benefits These costs were incurred in the first quarter of 2009 On April 2009 we approved reduction

of 11 employees representing approximately 15% of the total employees in this segment the Q2 2009 TP Workforce

Reduction We completed the communication of this action to our employees on April 15 2009 We incurred approximately

$62 in total costs related to these actions for one-time termination benefits These costs were incurred in the second quarter of

2009 These actions were taken to reduce the operating expenses of this segment in response to current business conditions We
expect that the completed actions in this segment will reduce our annual operating expense structure by approximately $1256

In September 2009 we approved the relocation of Sigma from El Cajon California to Sharon Massachusetts the Sigma
Relocation where Temptronic Corporations manufacturing operations are located and Sigma will share facility with

Temptronic both of these operations are part of our Thermal Products segment On September 30 2009 we announced this

relocation to the Sigma employees In connection with the facility closure in El Cajon we terminated 18 Sigma employees

representing approximately 32% of the employees in this segment and incurred approximately $115 in one-time termination

benefits related to this action We completed the facility closure in El Cajon during the fourth quarter of 2009 and completed the

relocation of the product line to our facility in Sharon during the first quarter of 2010 Through December 31 2010 we incurred

approximately $195 of facility closure costs related to this action These costs included lease termination fees of approximately

$62 and other costs associated with this consolidation of facilities including the cost to relocate inventory equipment and

personnel of approximately $133 This action was taken to reduce the operating expenses of this segment in response to current

business conditions We expect that the completed actions in this segment will reduce our annual operating expenses by

approximately $636

Mechanical Products Segment

On April 2009 we approved reduction in workforce in our Mechanical Products segment of 13 employees which represented

approximately 20% of the employees in this segment We incurred approximately $71 in total costs related to this action for one
time termination benefits These costs were incurred in the second quarter of 2009 We completed the communication of this

action to our employees on April 15 2009

Also on April 2009 we approved the closure of our Japanese operation which is part of our Mechanical Products segment The

four full-time and one part-time employees were notified of this planned closure on April 24 2009 Three full-time employees

were terminated on May 31 2009 The two remaining employees were terminated during the fourth quarter of 2009 No one-time

termination benefits were paid to these employees when they were terminated During the third quarter of 2009 we recorded

facility closure costs of $27 for our Japanese operation We vacated our Japanese facility at the end of the third quarter of 2009

We completed the closure of this operation during the fourth quarter of 2009

On April 14 2009 we approved reductions in workforce in our Singaporean operation which is also part of our Mechanical

Products segment of employees and notified these employees of their planned termination on April 20 2009 We terminated

four employees on May 15 2009 one employee on May 31 2009 and three employees on June 30 2009 We incurred

approximately $51 in total costs related to this action for one-time termination benefits We incurred these costs during the second

quarter of 2009 In connection with this action we plan to centralize manufacturing of all mechanical products in our Cherry Hill

New Jersey operation

The reductions in force noted above for our Japanese and Singaporean operations totaled 13 employees representing 26% of the

employees in our Mechanical Products segment

All of the actions discussed above collectively the Q2 2009 MP Plan were taken to reduce the operating expenses of this

segment in response to current business conditions We expect that the completed actions in this segment will reduce our annual

operating expense structure by approximately $1538
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RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES Continued

Electrical Products Segment

On April 27 2009 we approved workforce reductions in our Electrical Products segment the Q2 2009 EP Workforce

Reduction On April 30 2009 we terminated 10 employees and an additional staff person was terminated on May 15 2009

which represented 61% of the employees in this segment We incurred approximately $77 in total costs related to these actions for

one-time termination benefits We incurred these costs during the second quarter of 2009

These actions were taken to reduce the operating expenses of this segment in response to current business conditions We expect

that the completed actions in this segment will reduce our annual operating expense
structure by approximately $779

Corporate Segment

On April 2009 we approved reduction in workforce in our Corporate segment of one employee which represented

approximately 20% of the employees in this segment the Q2 2009 Corporate Workforce Reduction We incurred

approximately $6 in total costs related to this action for one-time termination benefits These costs were incurred in the second

quarter of 2009 We also approved reduction in the base salary of our Executive Chairman of approximately $152 We

completed the communications of these actions to our employees on April 15 2009 These actions were taken to reduce the

operating expenses of this segment in response to current business conditions We expect that the completed actions in this

segment will reduce our annual operating expense structure by approximately $202

Our restructuring costs for year ended December 31 2009 are summarized as follows

Balance January 12009
Accruals for one-time termination benefits

Accruals for facility closure costs

Severance and other cash payments related

to one-time termination benefits and

facility closure costs

Balance December 31 2009

2008 Restructuring Actions

Qi 2009 Q2 2009 Q2 2009 Q2 2009

TP TP Q2 2009 EP Corporate

WorkforceWorkforce MP WorkforceWorkforce Sigma Sub-Total Total

Reduction Reduction Plan Reduction Reduction Relocation 2009 Plans All Plans

$- $- $- $- $- $- $- $141

60 62 122 77 115 442 440

27 195 222 222

i142 180 534 673
$- s- $JQ $JQ SJ3Q

Mechanical Products Segment

On June 30 2008 we announced that we were reducing the workforce in our Mechanical Products segment by 18 employees

representing 18% of the total employees in this segment and implementing reduced work week for our manufacturing facility in

Amerang Germany the Q2 2008 MP Workforce Reduction The total costs incurred related to this action were $200 These

costs represented one-time termination benefits This action was completed in the third quarter of 2008

Balance January 2009

Accruals for reversals of one-time termination benefits

Severance and other cash payments related to one-time

termination benefits

Balance December 31 2009

Q3 2008

EP
Plan

$3

Q3 2008 Q4 2008

MP MP
Plan Plan

$72 $28

10

124

Q4 2008

EP

Plan

$38

Sub-Total

2008 Plans

$141

_a
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RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES Continued

On September 12 2008 we approved restructuring plan for our Mechanical Products segment the Q3 2008 MP Plan As

part of this plan we closed our manufacturing facility in Amerang Germany and our engineering and sales office in the U.K In

addition to these facility closures we reduced our domestic workforce by employees which represented approximately 7% of

the total employees in this segment We also implemented temporary salary reductions for certain employees of this segment

temporarily reduced the fees paid to members of our Board of Directors and implemented permanent reductions for expenses

related to our use of third-party vendors Effective January 2009 we implemented additional temporary and permanent cost

reductions associated with our employee benefit plans This includes the temporary suspension of our 401k matching

contributions and the implementation of an employee contribution of portion of the cost of medical coverage for our domestic

employees in this segment The total costs incurred related to these actions were $331 which is made up of $140 for one-time

termination benefits and $191 for facility closure costs These actions were completed during the fourth quarter of 2008

On December 2008 we approved further reduction in workforce in our Mechanical Products segment of employees

representing approximately 11% of the total employees in this segment the Q4 2008 MP Plan We incurred approximately

$101 in total costs related to this action for one-time termination benefits These costs were incurred in the fourth quarter of 2008
In addition to the reduction in workforce we reduced by 40% the hours worked by three employees and reduced by 25% the

salary of two employees These actions were taken to reduce the operating expenses of this segment in response to continued

operating losses These actions were completed during the fourth quarter of 2008

Electrical Products Segment

On September 12 2008 we approved restructuring plan for our Electrical Products segment the Q3 2008 EP Plan As part

of this plan we reduced our workforce by employees which represented approximately 9% of the total employees in this

segment We also implemented temporary salary reductions for certain employees of this segment and effective January 2009
we implemented additional temporary and permanent cost reductions associated with our employee benefit plans similar to those

discussed above for the Q3 2008 MP Plan The total costs incurred related to this action were $8 which represented one-time

termination benefits This action was completed in the third quarter of 2008

On November 19 2008 we approved further reduction in workforce in our Electrical Product segment of 10 employees

representing approximately 36% of the total employees in this segment the Q4 2008 EP Plan We incurred $77 in total costs

related to this action for one-time termination benefits This action was taken to reduce the operating expenses of this segment in

response to continued operating losses These actions were completed during the fourth quarter of 2008

Our restructuring costs for the
year

ended December31 2008 are summarized as follows

Q2 2008

MP Q3 2008 Q4 2008 Q3 2008 Q4 2008

Workforce MP MP EP EP
Reduction Plan Plan Plan Plan Total

Balance January 2008

Accruals for one-time termination benefits and

facility closure costs 200 331 101 77 717

Severance and other cash payments related to

one-time termination benefits and facility

closure costs JTh J2 Li
Balance December 31 2008 S12 S2 S3 S38 i4i

MAJOR CUSTOMERS
Texas Instruments Incorporated accounted for 14% and 16% of our consolidated net revenues in 2009 and 2008 respectively

While all three of our operating segments sold to this customer these revenues were primarily generated by our Mechanical

Products segment During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 no other customer accounted for 10% or more of our

consolidated net revenues
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INVENTORIES

Inventories held at December 31 were comprised of the following

2009 2008

Raw materials $2176 $3145

Workinprocess 285 298

Inventory consigned to others 72 165

Finished goods 531 585

$3Q44 $4.193

OTHER ACCRUED EXPENSES

Other accrued expenses consist of the following

December 31

2009 2008

Accruedrent $147 $184

Accrued repairs
153 153

Accrued customer obligations
92 92

Other 63 J24
$553

DEBT

Notes Payable to Stockholder

As result of our acquisition of Sigma as more fully discussed in Note we have non-negotiable promissory notes in an

aggregate principal amount of $1525 outstanding at December 31 2009 and 2008 The notes bear interest at the prime rate plus

1.25% and are secured by the assets of Sigma Interest is payable annually on the anniversary of closing Principal is payable in

four equal annual installments of $381 beginning on October 2010

Line of Credit

As of December 31 2009 we have secured credit facility that provides for maximum borrowings of $250 We have not used

this credit facility to borrow any funds Our usage consists of the issuance of letters of credit in the face amount of $250 This

facility had been secured by all assets of inTEST Corporation Temptronic Corporation and inTEST Silicon Valley Corporation

excluding all patents trademarks and applications for same During the quarter ended September 30 2009 we agreed with the

lender who provides this secured credit facility to release their liens against the assets of our operations in exchange for pledged

certificates of deposit totaling $250 These certificates of deposit are included in Other Assets on our balance sheet The loan

agreement for this facility contained certain negative covenants regarding among other things acquisitions and additional debt In

2009 we had notified the lender that our 2008 acquisitions may have violated these covenants and the lender has provided

waivers of those covenant violations as well as eliminated those covenants going forward We pay quarterly fee of 1.5% per

annum on the total amount of the outstanding letters of credit This credit facility expires on September 30 2010

Letters of Credit

At each of December 31 2009 and 2008 we had an outstanding letter of credit in the amount of $200 This letter of credit was

originally issued in December 2000 as security deposit under lease that our Temptronic subsidiary entered into for its facility

in Sharon Massachusetts This letter of credit expires January 2011 however the terms of the lease require that the letter of

credit be renewed at least thirty days prior to its expiration date for successive terms of not less than one year throughout the

entire lease term which ends February 28 2011
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DEBT Continued

At each of December 31 2009 and 2008 we also had an outstanding letter of credit in the amount of $50 This letter of credit was

issued in September 2004 as portion of the security deposit under lease that we entered into for facility for our Electrical

Products operation based in northern California This letter of credit expires September 13 2010 however the terms of the lease

require that the letter of credit be renewed at least thirty days prior to its expiration date for successive terms of not less than one

year until June 30 2012 which is sixty days after the expiration of the lease term

10 LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS AND DEFERRED RENT

We record tenant improvements made to our leased facilities based on the amount of the total cost to construct the improvements

regardless of whether portion of that cost was paid through an allowance provided by the facilitys landlord The amount of the

allowance if any is recorded as deferred rent We amortize deferred rent on straight-line basis over the lease term and record

the amortization as reduction of rent expense

In addition certain of our operating leases contain predetermined fixed escalations of minimum rentals during the original lease

terms For these leases we recognize the related rental expense on straight-line basis over the life of the lease and record the

difference between the amounts charged to operations and amounts paid as accrued rent which is included in other accrued

expenses on our balance sheet

During 2005 we recorded $854 of additions to our leasehold improvements which were paid for on our behalf by the landlord of

our facility in San Jose California We occupied this facility during the first quarter of 2005 We also recorded this amount as

deferred rent Amortization of deferred rent for the
years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was $118 and $118 respectively

11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Lease Commitments

We lease our offices warehouse facilities automobiles and certain equipment under noncancellable operating leases which expire

at various dates through 2021 Total rental expense for the years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was $1664 and $1674

respectively

In December 2009 we requested and received two month extension to the existing lease on our Cherry Hill New Jersey facility

This lease extension was granted in connection with our planned relocation from our Cheny Hill New Jersey fithility
to smaller

facility located in Mount Laurel New Jersey We expect to sign the lease for the Mount Laurel New Jersey facility early in the

second quarter of 2010 This lease will expire 123 months after we take occupancy which is expected to occur in late October

2010 The aggregate minimum rental commitments under the noncancellable operating leases in effect at December 31 2009 as

well as the operating lease for the Mount Laurel New Jersey facility which we expect to sign early in the second quarter of 2010

are as follows

2010 $1590
2011 746

2012 486

2013 389

2014 385

Thereafter $2784

S6.380

F-21



inTEST CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In thousands except share and
per

share data

12 GUARANTEES

Product Warranties

Warranty expense for the years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was $63 and $55 respectively The following table sets forth

the changes in the liability for product warranties for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008

2009 2008

Balance Beginning of period 281 387

Payments made under warranty 116 161
Accruals for product warranty

Balance End of period

U.K Lease Guarantee

In connection with the closure of our U.K manufacturing operation in 2005 we have entered into sub-leasing arrangement for

the facility which was occupied by this operation prior to its closure As condition of the sub-lease the landlord of this facility

has required that we guarantee the performance of the sub-lessee with respect to the lease payments We have performed credit

analysis of the sub-lessee and believe that default by them with regard to their obligations under the sub-lease agreement is

remote However as of December 31 2009 there was approximately $89 of future payments that we would be obligated to make

if the sub-lessee were to default and we were unable to enter into new sub-lease agreement with another party Our original

lease on this facility extends through December 31 2010 As of December 31 2009 we have not recorded any amounts in our

financial statements related to this guarantee

13 INCOME TAXES

We are subject to Federal and certain state income taxes In addition we are taxed in certain foreign countries The cumulative

amount of undistributed earnings of certain of our foreign subsidiaries which we consider to be permanently reinvested and as

result for which U.S income taxes have not been provided was $1373 at December 31 2009 At December 31 2008 there was

an accumulated deficit of $2460

Earnings loss before income taxes was as follows

Years Ended

December 31
2009 2008

Domestic $3820 $6915
Foreign 1075 2165

S4.895 $9.080

Income tax expense benefit was as follows

Years Ended

December 31
2009 2008

Current

Domestic Federal

Domestic state 20 54
Foreign JQ7

Deferred

Income tax expense benefit
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13 INCOME TAXES Continued

During 2009 and 2008 we repatriated $21 and $1200 respectively in foreign earnings for which no U.S income taxes had

previously been provided as we had considered these amounts to be permanently reinvested There was no tax effect of this

distribution as it was offset by our net operating loss carryforwards

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of net operating loss and credit carryforwards as well as temporary differences

between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax

purposes The following is summary of the significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31

2009 and 2008

December 31
2009 2008

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss Federal state and foreign $6565 $5267

Depreciation of property and equipment 1131 1251

Foreign tax credit carryforward 836 833

Inventories 320 444

Accrued vacation pay 74 149

Accrued warranty 64 52

Allowance for doubtful accounts 58 41

Accrued bonuses

Other 62 59

9115 8102

Valuation allowance 8.599 7.159

Deferred tax assets 516 943

Deferred tax liabilities

Net intangible assets 460 511
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries 56 429
Accrued royalty income

Deferred tax liabilities 516 943

Net deferred tax asset

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of the beginning of 2009 and 2008 was $7159 and $5112 respectively The

net change in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was an increase of $1440 and $2047

respectively In assessing the ability to realize the deferred tax assets we consider whether it is more likely than not that some

portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the

generation of future taxable income during periods in which those temporary differences become deductible We consider the

scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this

assessment In order to fully realize the total deferred tax assets we will need to generate future taxable income prior to the

expiration of net operating loss and credit carryforwards which expire in various years through 2029 Based upon the level of

historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the temporary differences are

deductible we believe it is more likely than not that we will not realize the benefit of the deferred ta asset and as result have

recorded full valuation allowance at December 31 2009
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13 INCOME TAXES Continued

An analysis of the effective tax rate for the years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 and reconciliation from the expected

statutory rate of 34% is as follows

Years Ended

December 31
2009 2008

Expected income tax benefit provision at U.S statutory rate $1664 $3087
Increase decrease in tax from

Effects of NOL and tax credit carryforwards and changes in

valuation allowance 1345 2616

Repatriation of international earnings 225 408

Nondeductible expenses 98 162

Foreign income tax rate differences 50 11
State tax expense credit 13 35
Tax impact of liquidation of foreign subsidiary

Income tax expense benefit 52 53

In accounting for income taxes we follow the guidance in ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes regarding the recognition and

measurement of uncertain tax positions in our financial statements Recognition involves determination of whether it is more

likely than not that tax position will be sustained upon examinatiQn with the presumption that the tax position will be examined

by the appropriate taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information Our policy is to record interest and penalties

associated with unrecognized tax benefits as additional income taxes in the statement of operations As of December 31 2009 and

2008 we did not have an accrual for uncertain tax positions

We file U.S income tax returns and multiple state and foreign income tax returns With few exceptions the U.S and state income

tax returns filed for the tax years ending on December 31 2006 and thereafter are subject to examination by the relevant taxing

authorities

14 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we may be party to legal proceedings occurring in the ordinary course of business We are not currently

involved in any legal proceedings the resolution of which we believe could have material effect on our business financial

position results of operations or long-term liquidity

15 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On June 30 2005 in connection with the closing of our U.K manufacturing operation we sold certain assets of this operation

including the machine shop assets to the then managing director of our U.K manufacturing operation for $132 In connection

with this transaction we took back $132 note receivable with five-year term with interest payable quarterly at the rate of 4.5%

At December 31 2009 and 2008 the balance outstanding under this note receivable was $19 and $23 respectively and is

included in Other Assets on our balance sheet

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we have notes payable in the aggregate amount of $1525 to one of our stockholders Sandy

Hoover This note payable is result of our acquisition of Sigma which is more fully discussed in Note The terms of the note

are discussed in Note
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16 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLAN

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we have outstanding stock options and unvested restricted stock awards granted under the

Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan the 1997 Stock Plan as well as under the inTEST Corporation 2007 Stock Plan the

2007 Stock Plan As of March 31 2007 no additional stock options or shares of restricted stock may be granted under the

1997 Plan

The 2007 Stock Plan was approved at our annual meeting of stockholders held on June 13 2007 upon the recommendation of our

Board of Directors The 2007 Stock Plan permits the granting of stock options or restricted stock for up to 500000 shares of our

common stock to officers other key employees and consultants description of the 2007 Stock Plan including the full text of

the 2007 Stock Plan is contained in the proxy statement for our 2007 annual meeting of stockholders As of December 31 2009

440000 shares remain available to grant under the 2007 Stock Plan

We have not granted any stock options during 2009 or 2008 Our unvested restricted stock awards outstanding are accounted for

based on their grant date fair value As of December 31 2009 total compensation expense to be recognized in future periods was

$177 All of this expense is related to nonvested shares of restricted stock The weighted average period over which this expense

is expected to be recognized is 1.4 years

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the two years ended December 31 2009

Weighted

Number Average

of Shares Exercise Price

Options outstanding January 2008 466500 exercisable 466500 $3.52

Granted

Exercised

Canceled 46500 4.19

Options outstanding December 31 2008 420000 exercisable 420000 3.44

Granted

Exercised

Canceled 12000 3.29

Options outstanding December 31 2009 408000 exercisable 408.000 3.45

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31 2009

Number

Outstanding and Weighted Weighted Aggregate

Range of Exercisable at Average Average Intrinsic

Exercise Prices December 31 2009 Remainin2 Life Exercise Price Value

$2.99 $3.35 332000 2.93 years $3.10

$3.61 $4.00 41000 2.53 years $3.78

$5.66 $6.75 35000 2.39 years $6.35

408.000 $3.45

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above if any represents the total pretax intrinsic value based on closing price for our

stock of $1.73 at December 31 2009 assuming all option holders exercised their stock options that were in-the-money as of that

date In general it is our policy to issue new shares upon the exercise of stock options
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16 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLAN Continued

Restricted Stock Awards

We record compensation expense for restricted stock awards nonvested shares based on the quoted market price of our stock at

the grant date and amortize the expense over the vesting period Restricted stock awards generally vest over four years The

following table summarizes the compensation expense we recorded during 2009 and 2008 respectively related to nonvested

shares

Years Ended

December 31
2009 2008

Cost of revenues 22

Selling expense
11 28

Engineering and product development expense 24 48

General and administrative expense ..J2

SB S4i

There was no compensation expense capitalized in 2009 or 2008 The following table summarizes the activity related to

nonvested shares for the two years ended December 31 2009

Weighted

Average

Number Grant Date

of Shares Fair Value

Nonvested shares outstanding January 2008 225750 $4.29

Granted

Vested 99250 4.48

Forfeited 7500 4.24

Nonvested shares outstanding December 31 2008 119000 4.14

Granted

Vested 36750 4.12

Forfeited 15.750 4.09

Nonvested shares outstanding December 31 2009 66500 4.14

The total fair value of the shares which vested during the years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was $6 and $95 respectively

17 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We have defmed contribution 401k plan for our employees who work in the U.S the inTEST 401k Plan Sigma which

we acquired in October 2008 as discussed more fully in Note also had defined contribution 401k plan for its employees

Effective February 2009 we merged the defmed contribution 40 1k plan of Sigma into the inTEST 401k Plan All

permanent employees of inTEST Corporation inTEST Silicon Valley Corp and Sigma who are at least 18
years

of
age are

eligible to participate in the plan We match employee contributions dollar for dollar up to 10% of the employees annual

compensation with maximum limit of $5 Employer contributions vest over four years Matching contributions are

discretionary At various points in time in the past these matching contributions have been temporarily suspended as part of our

cost containment efforts Effective January 2009 we have suspended matching contributions for the domestic operations within

our Mechanical and Electrical Products segments Sigma which is included in our Thermal Products segment continued to match

employee contributions throughout 2009 For the
years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we contributed $17 and $266 to the

plan respectively
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17 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS Continued

Temptronic adopted defined contribution 401k plan for its domestic employees in 1988 that was merged into the inTEST

401k Plan effective September 2002 The inTEST 401k Plan retains the matching provisions of the prior Temptronic plan

for all Temptronic employees Temptronic matches employee contributions $0.50 on the dollar up to 6% of the employees annual

compensation with maximum limit of $3 Matching contributions are discretionary The eligibility and vesting provisions of the

prior Temptronic plan have been conformed to those for inTEST Corporation inTEST Silicon Valley Corporation and Sigma

employees Effective April 2009 we have suspended matching contributions For the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 Temptronic contributed $18 and $71 to the plan respectively

In addition to the employer matching for which Temptronic employees are eligible upon the termination of the Temptronic

Equity Participation Plan EPP we also acknowledged that it was our intention to contribute $3000 in the aggregate to the

inTEST 401k Plan as form of profit sharing not to exceed $300 per year for the benefit of Temptronic employees The

amount of these contributions approximates the amount that we had been committed to contribute to the EPP as of its termination

date All such profit sharing contributions are at the discretion of management and will be allocated to employees annually in the

same manner in which the shares held by the EPP had been allocated The vesting provisions for these contributions will be the

same as those of the inTEST 401k Plan Effective January 2009 we temporarily suspended profit sharing contributions due to

operating losses being incurred by Temptronic Accruals for profit sharing contributions totaling $0 and $300 were made during

2009 and 2008 respectively Through December 31 2009 we had made total of $1328 in profit sharing contributions We have

historically funded these contributions through the use of treasury shares during the quarter subsequent to the quarter in which we

record the profit sharing liability although management has the discretion to use cash to fund these contributions Our current

intention is to use cash to fund these contributions when our stock price is below $3.00 per share

18 SEGMENT INFORMATION

We have three reportable segments which are also our reporting units Mechanical Products Thermal Products and Electrical

Products

The Mechanical Products segment includes the operations of our Cherry Hill New Jersey manufacturing facility as well as the

operations of three of our foreign subsidiaries Intestlogic GmbH Germany inTEST KK Japan and inTEST Pte Limited

Singapore Diamond which we acquired in July 2008 as more fully discussed in Note is included in the operations of our

Cherry Hill New Jersey manufacturing facility As discussed more fully in Note we closed Intestlogic GmbH during the fourth

quarter of 2008 and we closed inTEST KK during the fourth quarter of 2009 In addition we reduced our workforce significantly

at inTEST Pte and have centralized the manufacturing of all Mechanical Products in our Cherry Hill New Jersey manufacturing

facility As result of this workforce reduction and centralization of manufacturing operations the remaining operations at

inTEST Pte will be primarily the sale and servicing of Thermal Products As result effective January 2010 this operation will

be included in our Thermal Products segment for reporting Sales of our Mechanical Products segment consist primarily of

manipulator and docking hardware products which we design manufacture and market In addition this segment provides post

warranty service and support for various ATE equipment

The Thermal Products segment includes the operations of Temptronic Corporation in Sharon Massachusetts Temptronic GmbH

Germany and Sigma which we acquired in October 2008 as more fully discussed in Note As noted above effective January

2010 this segment will also include the operations of inTEST Pte Limited Sales of this segment consist primarily of

temperature management systems which we design manufacture and market under our Temptronic and Sigma Systems product

lines In addition this segment provides post warranty service and support

The Electrical Products segment includes the operations of inTEST Silicon Valley Corporation Sales of this segment consist

primarily of tester interface products which we design manufacture and market

We operate our business worldwide and all three segments sell their products both domestically and internationally All three

segments sell to semiconductor manufacturers third-party test and assembly houses and ATE manufacturers Our Thermal

Products segment also sells into variety of industries outside of the semiconductor industry including the aerospace

automotive communications consumer electronics defense and medical industries Intercompany pricing between segments is

either multiple of cost for component parts or list price for finished goods
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inTEST CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In thousands except share and per
share data

18 SEGMENT INFORMATION Continued

Years Ended

December 31
2009 2008

Net revenues from unaffihiated customers

Mechanical Products 9961 $15001

Thermal Products 11952 18753

Electrical Products 2760 6759

Intersegment sales 1174 1723
S23.499 S38.790

Intersegment sales

Mechanical Products 11 27

Thermal Products 818 1237

Electrical Products 345 459

1.174 1.723

Depreciation/amortization

Mechanical Products 40 317

Thermal Products 458 382

Electrical Products 374

501 1073

Operating income loss
Mechanical Products 2378 8363
Thermal Products 1818 485

Electrical Products 886 1572

Corporate
36 10

5Q4 S9.440

Earnings loss before income taxes

Mechanical Products 2253 $8002
Thermal Products 1767 484

Electrical Products 911 1572

Corporate
36 10

4.895 S9080

Income tax expense benefit

Mechanical Products 49 46

Thermal Products

Electrical Products

Corporate

52 53

Net earnings loss
Mechanical Products 2204 8048
Thermal Products 1764 477

Electrical Products 911 1572
Corporate

36 10

j4843 9.133

Capital expenditures

Mechanical Products 97

Thermal Products 65 208

Electrical Products 19 95

86 400
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In thousands except share and per share data

Identifiable assets

Mechanical Products 5525
Thermal Products 8433

Electrical Products 1186 _______

$15144 _______

The following table provides information about our geographic areas of operation Net revenues from unaffiliated customers are

based on the location of the selling entity

Net revenues from unaffihiated customers

U.S

Europe

Asia-Pacific

Years Ended

December 31
2009 2008

$20210 $29225

1490 3888

1799 5677

$23499 $38790

Long-lived assets

U.S

Europe

Asia-Pacific

19 QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA Unaudited

December 31

2009 2008

$200 $474

91 125

18

$29

The following tables present certain unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information for each of the eight quarters ended

December 31 2009 In our opinion this quarterly information has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial

statements and includes all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the

information for the periods presented The results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for the full

year or for any future period

Year-over-year quarterly comparisons of our results of operations may not be as meaningful as the sequential quarterly

comparisons set forth below that tend to reflect the cyclical activity of the semiconductor industry as whole Quarterly

fluctuations in expenses are related directly to sales activity and volume and may also reflect the timing of operating expenses

incurred throughout the year

Ouarters Ended

6/30/092 9/30/093 12/31/094

4672 6009 8423

1416 2432 3162

1960 277 96

46
1952 278 142

Total

$23499

7813

4895
52

4843

18 SEGMENT INFORMATION Continued

December 31

2009 2008

7128

12018

1346

$20492

Net revenues

Gross margin

Eamings loss before income tax expense benefit

Income tax expense benefit

Net earnings loss

Net earnings loss per common share basic

Weighted average common shares outstanding basic

Net earnings loss per common share diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding diluted...

3/31/091

4395
803

2754

2755

$0.28 $0.20 $0.03
9956989 9973225 9982972

$0.28 $0.20 $0.03
9956989 9973225 9982972

$0.01

9987456

$0.01

9987456

$0.49
9975266

$0.49
9975266
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In thousands except share and per
share data

19 QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA Unaudited Continued

Net revenues

Gross margin

Loss before income tax expense benefit

Income tax expense benefit

Net loss

The quarter ended March 31 2009 included $60 of restructuring charges

The quarter ended June 30 2009 included $269 of restructuring charges

The quarter ended September 30 2009 included $27 of restructuring charges

The quarter ended December 31 2009 included $307 of restructuring charges

The quarter ended June 30 2008 included $200 of restructuring charges

The quarter ended September 30 2008 included $133 charge for impairment of long-lived assets and $61

of restructuring charges

The quarter ended December 31 2008 included $130 charge for impairment of goodwill $1244 charge

for impairment of long-lived assets and $456 of restructuring charges

20 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Effective January 2010 we restored all of the temporary salary reductions we implemented in 2008 and 2009 for our domestic

employees with the exception of the salary of our Executive Chairman which was restored to approximately 65% of its full

reinstated level reflecting voluntary continued 35% reduction in his salary We currently plan to restore the 40 1k Plan

discretionary matching contribution for all domestic employees on April 2010 This discretionary matching contribution was

suspended for most of these employees at the beginning of 2009

In addition on March 11 2010 we issued 250000 shares of restricted stock to various employees and directors Based on grant

date fair value of $1.42 per share we will record total compensation expense of $355 related to these shares This expense
will be

recorded on straight-line basis over the four year vesting period

quarters Ended

3/31/08 6/30/085 9/30/086 12/31/087

$11304 $11497 9159 6830

4453 4523 2962 1847

1264 1310 1995 4511
62 47 37 93

1326 1357 2032 4418

Net loss
per common share basic

Weighted average common shares outstanding basic

Net loss per common share diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding diluted

Total

$38790

13785

9080
53

9133

$0.97

9465006

$0.97

9465006

$0.14 $0.15 $0.22

9307670 9323975 9337092

$0.14 $0.15 $0.22

9307670 9323975 9337092

$0.45

9888043

$0.45

9888043
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inTEST CORPORATION
SCHEDULE II-- VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

in thousands

Balance at Balance at

Beginning Expense End of

of Period Recovery Deductions Period

Year Ended December 31 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts 109 61 22 148

Warranty reserve 387 55 161 281

Year Ended December 31 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts 148 45 39 154

Warranty reserve 281 63 116 228
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Executive Officers

Alyn Holt

Executive Chairman

Robert Matthiessen

President and Chief Executive Officer

Hugh Regan Jr

Secretary Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

Daniel Graham

Senior Vice President and General Manager

Mechanical Products Segment and Electrical

Products Segment

James Pelrin

Vice President and General Manager

Thermal Products Segment

Board of Directors

Alyn Holt

Executive Chairman inTEST Corporation

Robert Matthiessen

President and CEO inTEST Corporation

Stuart Daniels Ph.D

Principal The Daniels Group

Technology Assessment Protection

and Commercialization Consulting

James Greed Jr

Principal Foothill Technology

Consulting to the Semiconductor Industry

James Schwartz Esq

Of Counsel Saul Ewing LLP

Thomas Reilly Jr

Retired Former Audit Partner at

Arthur Anderson LLP

Leg Counse

Saul Ewing LLP

Centre Square West

1500 Market Street38th Floor

Philadelphia PA 19102-2186

ndependent Registered

Pubhc Accounting Firm

McGladrey Pullen LLP

One Valley Square Suite 250

512 Township Line Road

Blue Bell PA 19422-2700

Transfer Agent

Computershare Investor Services

Box 43070

Providence RI 02940-3070

800-962-4284

nvestor Rations

Global IR Partners

Two Park Place

Bronxville New York 10708

914-337-8801

intt@globalirpartners.com

Annua Stockhders Meeting
Our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

will beheld at 1100 A.M Eastern Daylight Time

on Tuesday August 10 2010 at our offices

Esterbrook Lane Cherry Hill NJ 08003

AvaHabiity of Annua Report on Form 10-K

copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2009 excluding exhibits as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission is available

to any stockholder without charge upon written request

to Hugh Regan Jr Secretary inTEST Corporation

Esterbrook Lane Cherry Hill NJ 08003 or by calling

856 424-6886 Copies of the exhibits filed therewith will

be provided upon written request to the Secretary of the

Corporation and payment of reasonable fee which will

not exceed our expense incurred in connection with

providing such copies In addition our Annual Report

on Form 10-K and all exhibits are available at no charge

by accessing the Investor Relations page of our website

at http//investor.shareholder.com/intest/index.cfm or

the SECs website at www.sec.gov

Annuai Report Desgn by curran connors Inc www.curran-connors.com
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